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THE HEALTH CARE LAW: IMPLEMENTATION
AND SMALL BUSINESSES

WEDNESDAY, APRIL 17, 2013

HOUSE OF REPRESENTATIVES,
COMMITTEE ON SMALL BUSINESS,
Washington, DC.

The Committee met, pursuant to call, at 1:00 p.m., in Room
2360, Rayburn House Office Building. Hon. Sam Graves [chairman
of the Committee] presiding.

Present: Representatives Graves, Chabot, King, Luetkemeyer,
Mulvaney, Tipton, Herrera Beutler, Huelskamp, Schweikert, Col-
lins, Rice, Velazquez, Schrader, Clarke, Hahn, Payne, Barber,
McLane Kuster, and Murphy.

Chairman GRAVES. I would like to call the hearing to order.
And I want to thank all of our witnesses for being here today. I
look forward to your testimony.

Today we are going to examine the implementation of one of the
most far-reaching laws in our nation’s history—the Health Care
Reform Law—and its consequences for small businesses. It was
signed into law on March 23, 2010, just over three years ago, so
this is a good time to assess how small businesses are faring and
how the law is being implemented.

According to a February 2013 Newtek Business Services poll, 65
percent of small business owners do not have a strategy to manage
their health care costs over the next 12 months. Most small busi-
nesses are not even aware of the yet of the thousands of pages of
mandates, requirements, and taxes in the new health care law or
they are uncertain just how to comply. Some provisions are already
in effect, including a new tax on the sale of medical devices, a new
Medicare payroll tax for higher earners, and new net investment
income tax for higher earners, new limits on tax-favored health
spending accounts, and medical loss ratio provisions. Next year, the
employer mandate, the individual mandate, the requirement that
employers’ plans cover a wide range of essential health benefits
and the tax on health insurance, all become effective.

In a recent U.S. Chamber of Commerce survey, 86 percent of
small businesses said regulations and taxes negatively affect their
ability to operate. Seventy-five percent expect the health care law
will increase their costs, and 71 percent believe the law will make
it harder to hire employees. Just 5 percent expect that their health
care coverage will become more affordable. Small companies, al-
ready hurting, are struggling to find ways to absorb additional
costs. Beginning in 2014, the employer mandate will require em-
ployers with the equivalent of 50 full-time workers to offer afford-
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able health insurance to employees who work more than 30 hours
per week, or pay a penalty. This one change is already causing
small business owners to consider shifting workers to part-time
status, reducing the workforce to just simply not hiring.

In a comment letter I sent to the Treasury Department on its
employer mandate proposed rule, I suggested minimizing the law’s
impact on small employers—for example, not deeming just 30
hours per week a full-time work week. Small businesses are con-
cerned, and for very good reason. All employers, even small busi-
nesses with fewer than 50 workers not subject to the employer
mandate will be affected by various reporting, notification and
record-keeping requirements.

In a January 2013 analysis by Dr. Douglas Holtz-Eakin, who is
one of our witnesses today, found that the law will dramatically in-
crease the cost premiums for small employers, and the temporary
small business health care tax credits help very few. A Government
Accountability Office report that I requested found that despite es-
timates that 1.4 to 4 million small firms will be eligible in 2010,
only 170,000 have claimed even a partial credit. These are the
same small businesses that we are counting on to grow, invest, and
create new jobs. And the laws, provisions, and regulations are still
coming.

Today we will hear from small business owners and others about
the effects of the health care law’s implementation. I look forward
to your testimony. And I yield to Ranking Member Velazquez for
her opening remarks.

Ms. VELAZQUEZ. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. And thank you for
calling this hearing. I want to take this opportunity to thank all
the witnesses for being here with us today.

Three years ago the president signed into law the Affordable
Care Act. Landmark legislation aimed at improving the system
that has been broken for too long. For consumers, low income work-
ers, and families with children suffering from a preexisting condi-
tion, the health insurance system offered a raw deal for many dec-
ades now. Small businesses and entrepreneurs were among those
left out in the cold by a structure that put insurance company prof-
its ahead of health care consumers’ needs. In that, small firms
have seen their premiums escalate by 113 percent over the course
of the last decade. For many of the smallest enterprises, those with
50 employees or less, providing quality health care to their staff
was simply not an affordable option.

Last year, the Supreme Court upheld the Affordable Care Act,
finding its provisions constitutional. Regardless of where each of us
stood when Congress considered and passed the bill, that debate is
now over. Indeed, rolling back or defunding the measure would be
of enormous harm to our nation’s entrepreneurs. The challenge be-
fore this Committee is ensuring reform is implemented in a way
that allows small businesses to benefit while minimizing disruption
for smaller companies.

Make no mistake, there are significant benefits for entrepreneurs
in the ACA. Forty billion dollars in tax credits are being made
available for small businesses that supply insurance coverage to
their employees. The smallest companies, those with fewer than 10
employees, gained the most from these credits. As rates have risen,
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the small employers have encountered the most difficulty offering
coverage.

Over just a nine year period, their coverage levels declined by
more than 10 percent, providing the need for a targeted credit.
While these tax credits offer great promise, challenges remain in
ensuring eligible businesses take full advantage of the program.
With only 335,000 small firms applying for this assistance, it is
clear that more must be done to make small companies aware of
how to apply and take advantage of this provision.

I look forward to hearing from our witnesses today what can be
done at the IRS and throughout the government to maximize small
firms’ use of the tax credit. Small businesses are also beginning to
reap the benefits from the law’s more general provisions that pro-
tect consumers from unfair insurance industry practices. As pur-
chasers of coverage, small companies are negatively impacted when
one of their employees encounters a rare or debilitating illness. For
these firms, the caps on lifetime limits and elimination of pre-
existing conditions are helping to create a fairer health insurance
marketplace. They prevent insurance companies from drastically
raising rates when one of the small firms’ employees grows gravely
ill.

In addition to preventing insurance companies from abusing
their small business customers, the law offers a more consumer
friendly marketplace for small companies wishing to offer coverage.
By January of next year, there will be health insurance exchanges
within every state providing a competitive marketplace for small
firms to shop for affordable coverage that meets their needs. For
too long, affordable quality insurance was only available to those
who worked for large employers, such as major corporations or the
state and federal governments. With full implementation of the Af-
fordable Care Act, we can enable small firms to offer compatible
coverage, making them more competitive and allowing them to at-
tract employees who might otherwise flock only to major compa-
nies.

When any major law of this complexity is implemented, there
will be an adjustment period. It is my hope we can ensure imple-
mentation goes as smoothly as possible for small firms, both by
shaping how regulations are crafted and where necessary making
minor statutory changes.

With that, Mr. Chairman, I thank you and I yield back.

Chairman GRAVES. Thank you very much.

Now we will go to our witnesses. We have got votes that will
probably happen sometime between 1:25 and 1:40, in there, so we
will probably get through all of your statements. And then we will
probably get started on questions and then come back to finish
questions. Unfortunately, they scheduled votes right in the middle
of the hearing. But with that, each of you have five minutes.

Our first witness is going to be Douglas Holtz-Eakin, Ph.D. Dr.
Holtz-Eakin is president of the American Action Forum. He served
as commissioner of the congressionally chartered Financial Crisis
Inquiry Commission from 2009 to 2011 and director of the Congres-
sional Budget Office from 2003 to 2005. Welcome, and we appre-
ciate you coming in today.
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STATEMENTS OF DOUGLAS HOLTZ-EAKIN, PH.D, PRESIDENT,
AMERICAN ACTION FORUM; WILLIAM J. GOULDIN, JR.,
PRESIDENT, STRANGE’S FLORISTS, GREENHOUSES AND
GARDEN CENTERS; LOUISA MCQUEENEY, GENERAL MAN-
AGER, CFO, PALM BEACH GROVES; KEVIN TINDALL, OWNER,
TINDALL & RANSON PLUMBING AND HEATING

STATEMENT OF DOUGLAS HOLTZ-EAKIN

Mr. HOLTZ-EAKIN. Chairman Graves, Ranking Member
Velazquez, and members of the Committee, thank you for the privi-
lege of being here today. I have submitted a written statement for
the record. Let me just talk about a couple of things in the opening
remarks.

The Affordable Care Act is many things. It is health policy. It is
budget policy. But it is certainly also dramatic economic policy, and
from that perspective I think i1t has significant flaws. It is a very
costly regulatory initiative whose uncertainty has not yet fully been
resolved. It contains numerous taxes and fees of a magnitude of
nearly a trillion dollars over the next 10 years that are hard to de-
scribe as pro-growth. And it imposes burdens on employers, raising
insurance costs at the very time when they have a mandate to pro-
vide insurance to employees. These are significant economic policy
headwinds and they have a particular implication for small busi-
nesses. And I want to talk a little bit about each of those.

At the American Action Forum, we spend a lot of time trying to
track the costs of regulatory initiatives in this area and elsewhere,
and the ACA is very costly. It has about $24 billion in reported reg-
ulatory compliance costs. These are estimates that come from the
administration itself. Eighty million hours of paperwork time spent
complying with those regulations. To give you some perspective,
that is 40,000 full-time employees filling out paperwork for a year
nonstop. And there are also in a table in the written testimony, 11
regulations that have significant economic impact on a substantial
number of small entities which is simply a term of art for notice-
able and significant burdens on small business. And so this is, in
fact, an initiative that has $2 billion in costs on small businesses,
has another 11 million hours that are particularly focused on pa-
perwork for small businesses, and we are not yet done. I think as
everyone on the Committee knows, the exchanges are not yet fully
implemented and there are open questions about whether we will
meet the October 1st deadline and other aspects of the bill remain
far from finished, and the ultimate regulatory burden will not be
seen. But we are already seeing some of the impacts on the small
business community, and I remain concerned about whether overall
this does pass the typical benefit-cost test.

If you look at the taxes and the fees in the growth, as I said,
there are a trillion dollars in new taxes here, including the man-
date on those employers or the tax on those employers who do not
provide insurance, the so-called mandate. Two thousand dollars is
a significant impact. The provision of that insurance itself is an im-
pediment to small business hiring. We are going to see business
after business shift as the chair mentioned to part-time as opposed
to full-time employment. They are going to have to devote re-
sources to insurance costs instead of hiring new people, and it is
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a particular burden on minimum wage workers, where there is
very little flexibility in terms of the pay package so that you could
provide less in cash wages and more in terms of health insurance.
And so I am particularly worried about the impact at the bottom
of the economic ladder, the first step in upward mobility, and the
small business role in that.

We have seen other taxes that got mentioned that are particu-
larly onerous on small business. The medical device tax is a 2.3
percent tax on sales that is utterly divorced from the economic
health of any entity, and the research shows will have a dispropor-
tionate impact on small businesses. It is not surprising in a country
that leads the world in medical science that many of those devices
are, in fact, the creations of small businesses and startups. And
even prior to making a single dime they are going to have a tax
burden as they try to develop their products. And finally, the new
net investment income tax, which is going to show up on many
small businesses’ individual income tax returns, is simply a third
tax system above and beyond the income tax and the alternative
minimum tax. It is incredibly complex, and it is going to be quite
onerous for our entrepreneurs and small businesses to comply with.

The last thing I will mention is the cost of insurance itself. There
are lots of reasons to believe the essential benefits package, the re-
quirement to cover people with pre-existing conditions, the limited
age-rating bands that are in the law, that one would expect the in-
surance premiums of younger and healthier workers to go up, par-
ticularly in small businesses. The survey work that the chairman
mentioned that we did was to simply ask how big could that be?
And for small businesses with healthy workforces, these are double
digit, sometimes triple digit increases. We saw increases over 150
percent as a result of the impacts of the law itself. These are a sub-
stantial burden, an implicit tax on growth, at a time when we need
businesses, small businesses especially, to restore their traditional
role of creating jobs and speeding the pace of economic recovery.

So I thank you for the chance to be here today, and I look for-
ward to the chance to answer your questions.

Chairman GRAVES. Thank you very much.

Our next witness is William J. Gouldin, Jr., who is president of
Strange’s Florists, Greenhouses and Garden Centers in Richmond,
Virginia. Strange’s is a family-run business that began in 1935 and
has four generations of experience. Mr. Gouldin has been president
since 1971. He is testifying on behalf of the National Federation of
Independent Business. Welcome to the Committee.

STATEMENT OF WILLIAM J. GOULDIN

Mr. GOULDIN. Thank you, sir. Chairman Graves, Ranking
Member Velazquez, members of the Small Business Committee,
thank you for inviting me today.

I am Bill Gouldin, president of Strange’s Florists, Greenhouses
and Garden Centers in Richmond, Virginia. I work with my two
brothers, my wife, my son, and my daughter, along with 120 to 150
employees. We have a blend of full-time, part-time, and seasonal
employees, along with contractor hours at the major holidays. We
have four retail flower shops, a wholesale greenhouse range, and
two retail garden centers.
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Due to the holiday season and the nature of our business, vir-
tually all of our employees are hourly employees. We have been
paying 100 percent of the health care premium for all of our full-
time employees all of my career, and we also provide a 401(k) plan
for our employees. I thought providing health care benefits was im-
portant because I felt our employees needed it and we could pro-
vide it for less than it cost them, but in recent years I have come
to realize that all third-party pay systems are having difficulties
and that usually the beneficiaries have little knowledge of the costs
and some just do not care; and then I have very little control over
those costs.

When the health care debate was raging, I realized there was
plenty of rhetoric, both pro and con, but there was very limited de-
tail. So when people ask me about what happened in the financial
crisis, my comment has always been it was lack of due diligence
and integrity on all of our parts that the financial system got in
such trouble. And I think the same is true of the health care indus-
try and the Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act.

That caused me to take the time to begin scanning the House
and Senate bills as they were progressing, and I printed every page
that I could find that referenced the employer and the employee
and quickly realized that there were parts that were very vague
and confusing, many parts that were not workable, and some that
were very dangerous to employees and their employers. I realized
that this law would be the most disruptive instrument to the Amer-
ican workplace in my lifetime, and no one seemed to know or care
right in the middle of the worst recession/depression since the
Great Depression.

The IRS has the undesirable task of weeding through the details
of implementation and is making some progress but has a long way
to go. Their most complete list just came out December of 2012. It
was late in the game but it was a big help for some of the ques-
tions I had. One of the most dangerous parts of the law is the stat-
utory definition of full-time employment at 30 hours per week, or
as interpreted at 130 hours per month. The IRS cannot correct that
definition. Congress will have to amend the law. The use of 30
hours to define full-time employment is the lowest in the world, far
below the common practice of 37.5 to 40 hours per week that is
common practice for both public and private employers in this
country. This is already causing rescheduling of employees where
employers have read the law.

Every employer will be forced to define part-time employment as
something below 30 hours a week. Most will use between 20 and
27.5 hours per week. There millions of people who currently work
between 30 and 36 hours per week because that suits their lifestyle
and their income needs. These people will be required to lose hours
of work and income. Some employers are paying “time and a half”
to avoid hiring additional employees. The new full-time employee
definition will cause a hole in employment between 27.5 and 37.5
hours per week and possibly wider.

In 2009, I began developing the table that I gave you all a copy
of, and I have been tracking the Kaiser Family Foundation average
national premiums. And I made modest adjustments of 5 percent
inflation for 2013 and 2014. The tables show the marginal cost of
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offering health insurance at $119.05 an hour for an employee al-
lowed to work 30 hours per week where the employer pays 100 per-
cent of the premium, which is in their case, or a premium of $95
an hour if the employer pays 80 percent of the premium. These
staggering marginal costs are evidence of the problematic employ-
ment wedge that has been created. The 9.5 percent affordability
test will only aggravate the problem and drive wage rates at the
rate of health care inflation.

My concern is that no one seems to care about the millions of em-
ployees that will lose their job in whole or in part because of this
30-hour rule. Most employers have no pricing power to pass these
increased costs on to their consumers so they have no options but
to reduce hours or personnel. If a business tries to absorb these
costs and goes out of business, everybody loses their jobs.

The employer confusion caused by this law is already causing
higher unemployment and I believe that real unemployment, which
is the U-6 table, will rise as employers try to adapt to this law.

Amend the definition of full-time employee to read 37.5 hours per
week and begin to improve the U-6 unemployment today instead
of watching it rise above 14.5 percent. This will increase employ-
ment better than any scheme that I have heard and not cost the
government a dime. Our every effort should be to move people from
unemployment to working taxpayers.

We need a paradigm change to genuine respect for those private
businesses that create jobs in this country and for those who go to
work every day. The most patriotic thing any of us can do is to cre-
ate a job or go get a job.

Thank you very much. I look forward to your questions.

Ms. VELAZQUEZ. Mr. Chairman, it is my pleasure to introduce
to the Committee Ms. Louisa McQueeney. Ms. McQueeney is the
chief financial officer of Palm Beach Groves, an orange shipping
business located in Lantana, Florida. The company has been family
owned since 1946 and has a handful of employees. Ms. McQueeney
has been with the business for over a decade. She is testifying
today on behalf of the Main Street Alliance, a national network of
state-based small business coalitions. Welcome.

STATEMENT OF LOUISA MCQUEENEY

Ms. MCQUEENEY. Chairman Graves, Ranking Member
Velazquez, and members of the Committee, thank you for the invi-
tation to testify on how the Affordable Care Act is impacting small
businesses.

My name is Louisa McQueeney, and I am the general manager
and CFO of Palm Beach Groves, a small business in Lantana, Flor-
ida. We ship gift citrus across the United States and Canada. Last
year we employed six year-round employees and three seasonal
workers.

Part of my job as CFO is managing health care benefits. I have
grown quite accustomed to yearly double-digit rate increases from
12 percent to as high as 32 percent.

For almost a decade, our staff has not seen any raises, because
the raise would go to yet another increase in health insurance pre-
miums.
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Then, the first components of the Affordable Care Act, or
“Obamacare” were implemented.

In November of 2011, our insurance agent called with our re-
newal. Instead of the nightmare news I have come to expect, I
found out that our premiums would increase by a grand total of 0.2
percent. Zero point two. Flat.

I was floored. This flat renewal came with exactly the same
plan—mo dumbing down the coverage, no increase in our
deductibles, everything remained the same.

Then, at tax time, we applied for the small business health care
tax credit, which cut our total health care costs by about 10 per-
cent—$7,400—for 2011.

Last summer, we also received a $1,582 rebate check in the mail
from our insurance company. Our health insurer had not met the
“80/20” rule which requires them to spend at least 80 percent of
premiums on medical care. So, they were forced to pay us back the
difference. I was so excited I really thought about framing the
check.

My family was also personally benefitting with a free annual
well-visit, and we were also able to keep our daughter on our
health insurance until age 26. Between the stable rate, the tax
credit, and the rebate check, last year our health care costs went
down 12 percent, the first time ever, thanks to the Affordable Care
Act.

Since the law will not be fully implemented until 2014, we still
face challenges. All of our employees are in their 50s and 60s. Last
year we had four major health care events in our very small group.
One of our long-time employees died after battling lung cancer. The
spouse of another was diagnosed with a serious heart condition.
Thank God he was covered under our insurance, because it literally
did save his life.

Under Florida law, health insurers are allowed to impose addi-
tional rate hikes to small businesses based on the health status
and claims experience of the group. When you only have a few em-
ployees to begin with, just one battle with cancer can dramatically
affect your rates. Add a heart condition diagnosis and a generally
aging workforce, and we found ourselves facing another double-
digit rate hike at our latest renewal.

Starting next year, the Affordable Care Act prohibits insurers
from hitting small businesses with these rate hikes based on health
status or claims experience. Gone will be the days when, if one of
your employees gets cancer, your rates will skyrocket. Frankly, it
cannot come soon enough.

I am pleased that Governor Scott has joined with other repub-
lican governors in dropping the opposition to the law and wants to
accept the Medicaid expansion, which will help many Floridians.
However, this issue is still being hotly debated in our state legisla-
ture. I hope they do the right thing.

We need to move forward with health insurance exchanges where
small businesses can compare costs and coverage. Too many small
business owners still do not know that they could benefit from the
health care tax credit, a dollar-for-dollar reduction in your tax bill.
I found out about the credit through a small business IRS mailing,
but many business organizations, like the U.S. Chamber of Com-
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merce, opposed the law for ideological reasons. I feel they have
been remiss in educating their members about how they might ben-
efit and lower their health care costs.

Before I finish, I want to say something briefly about employer
responsibility. In our system, health care insurance is generally
provided by the employer. We feel it our duty to provide health cov-
erage to our employees who are like family to us. How can you look
an employee in the eye while they battle cancer and say “We are
going to drop your coverage” when you know it will financially dev-
astate their family?

As a business doing the right thing in offering health coverage,
it is a problem for us when businesses much larger than ours do
not offer health insurance and force us to subsidize their costs. The
shifting of uncompensated health care costs represent a hidden tax
in our premiums that cost our business hundreds of dollars per em-
ployee per year How is that fair?

In conclusion, the Affordable Care Act is bringing affordable good
quality health coverage within reach for many small businesses.
We are already seeing the benefits and have even more to look for-
ward to with the establishment of the state health insurance ex-
changes, the prohibition on rating due to health status, and other
provisions that are still on their way. We need to keep building on
the foundation of the Affordable Care Act, not tear it down. Small
businesses across the country cannot afford to go back to the bro-
ken, free market health care system we faced before reform.

I thank you very much.

Chairman GRAVES. Thank you, Ms. McQueeney.

Our final witness is Kevin Tindall, who is the owner of Tindall
and Ranson Plumbing and Heating in Princeton, New Jersey. Mr.
Tindall received the International Association of Plumbing and Me-
chanical Officials Green Contractor of the Year Award. He is testi-
fying on behalf of the Plumbing-Heating-Cooling Contractors—Na-
tional Association. Welcome to the Committee.

STATEMENT OF KEVIN TINDALL

Mr. TINDALL. Thank you, Chairman Graves, and members of
the Committee.

As the owner of a small business and on behalf of the Plumbing-
Heating-Cooling Contractors National Association, I would like to
thank you for the opportunity to appear before the Committee to
discuss health care reform. I applaud the efforts to hold this hear-
ing on one of the most important issues facing the citizens of our
nation.

Tindall and Ranson provides plumbing, heating, and cooling
services. My wife, Kathy, and I established the company 20 years
ago. We now have 20 full-time employees. I am proud to say that
we provide quality health care insurance to all those working at
Tindall and Ranson.

For the purposes of my appearance, I would like to ask that you
look at me as a small business job creator. I further ask that you
receive my testimony as someone who has worked to help create,
build, and improve the quality of life for those living in my commu-
nity, as well as providing quality careers for those who work for my
company, my partners.
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I am not an expert in health care reform. I am, however, a per-
son who must live with business decisions and policies that Con-
gress establishes which either increases or inhibits my ability to
create jobs. For that I am an expert. I have yet to understand how
as a nation we continue to state that we need to create more jobs,
yet challenge, threaten, or even ignore the very mechanisms for job
creation.

I would like to touch on a very few small business dynamics that
relate to health care reform.

Small business health care credits. When Congress passed the
health care reform package, I heard and read much about tax in-
centives for small business. I received material with the intent of
calculating any benefits of the reform in terms of tax credits. I am
proud to say that I do not qualify. The average salary for those who
work for my company exceeds the $50,000 threshold, thereby dis-
qualifying me. Tax credits as an incentive are meaningless unless
you happen to fall within a very limited universe as defined by the
reform.

Rising insurance premiums. One of the issues during the health
care reform debate was rising insurance premiums and the need to
be brought under control. I could not agree more. But that is the
difference between policy and the real world. For my company, in-
surance renewal costs for 2011 experienced an increase of 9.7 per-
cent, followed by an increase of 9.3 percent in 2012. Because 1 al-
ways view those who work for my company as partners and be-
cause I will always provide my partners and their families with
quality health care insurance, this increase simply means the cost
of doing business has increased. Eliminating health care insurance
or perhaps turning to a lower quality health care insurance to save
money is not an option. The continued rise in cost of providing
health care insurance absolutely stifles my ability to create, pro-
vide, and sustain jobs.

Educational materials. As an officer of the Plumbing-Heating-
Cooling Contractors National Association, I have access to health
care reform information webinars, materials, and analysis, and I
take advantage of all those tools. I raise this point for two reasons.

1. With my years as a member of the association and my position
as an officer with the association, combined with the efforts and
time to understand the complexities of the reform, I still have ques-
tions and concerns.

2. I raise the question—what about other small businesses across
the country who do not belong to an association—state or national?
We assume these small businesses know about reform and under-
stand its timetables, but I would submit they may not have the re-
sources, time, ability, or know-how to reach out and find out more.

I very much agree that one of the nation’s top priorities should
be job creation, but job creation is not a concept. It begins in com-
munities like mine and with people like me.

In closing, Mr. Chairman, I would like to thank you and the
members of the Committee again for this opportunity. I would be
happy to answer any questions that you may have either now or
in the future. Thank you.

Chairman GRAVES. Thank you, Mr. Tindall. I appreciate it.

And we are going to turn to Mr. Collins.
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Mr. COLLINS. I would like to thank the panel very much. I have
a question really for you, Mr. Tindall. But first of all, Dr. Holtz-
Eakin, you have confirmed a lot of the things I have heard as well.

Last week I was the breakfast speaker at the Job Creators Alli-
ance Leadership Summit down in Florida, and I heard time and
again the very issues that you were raising. So thank you for your
comments.

And Mr. Gouldin, I am a fellow member of the NFIB, a great or-
ganization.

And I would like to also congratulate Ms. McQueeney and Mr.
Tindall on being job creators, entrepreneurs in what we know is a
tough economic climate. And more so even in understanding the
fact that you provide your employees health care because that is
not true of all small businesses.

So Mr. Tindall, my concern is jobs. And there is a saying that
I have in the business world, “You grow or you die as a small busi-
nessman.” You have to focus on growth. But then again, you have
got expenses. So I guess my question to you, and also if you could
relate what you are hearing from other folks in the plumbing, heat-
ing, and air conditioning business, as your expenses are going up
and you are faced with this mandate, my view is you either have
to raise prices, but that could cost your company market share be-
cause others may not be doing it, or you are going to have to cut
expenses. I do not see an alternative. And if that is advertising or
other things to get more business, all I am seeing is a wet blanket
on job creation. And I would like to ask you to speak to your com-
pany, but also what you are hearing from other fellow members of
your association.

Mr. TINDALL. Absolutely. Their primary concern is obviously
there are—some of my competition does not provide health care to
their employees, and this law did not really do anything to help
that. The other thing is we are not being able to predict the cost
going forward. You know, the implementation of the law was sup-
posed to create a cost controlling mechanism and as a company I
have not seen that yet. Quite the contrary. I mean, the renewals
are talking about up to a 50 percent increase on renewals, which
is going to create very much the issues that you are talking about.
It is unaffordable. We will have to look at other options but, you
know, we still do not consider elimination of health care an option.
So it is of great concern. And I guess the biggest problem I have
is that it is unpredictable.

Mr. COLLINS. Quickly, Dr. Holtz-Eakin, you mentioned the
medical device tax. I would like to point out, and you certainly
know this, but it is 2.3 percent of revenue. Not 2.3 percent of profit.
So if you are a small business and it is 2.3 percent of revenue and
you are just barely breaking even, I can do the math but I would
like you to share what you think might be happening in those com-
panies subject to that if, in fact, they do not make 2.3 percent of
revenue even to their bottom-line.

Mr. HOLTZ-EAKIN. We actually have a research paper on this
which I would be happy to provide to you but the situation is ex-
actly as you characterize it. You have a lot of these companies who
have very small profit margins, under 2.3 percent. The 2.3 percent
chews up all the profit margin. They are typically start-up inno-
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vator device companies who need to plow that money back into the
firm in order to get scales sufficient to market more effectively.
They do not have the opportunity to do that. Often, they cannot
hire in times they need to. And the anecdotal evidence that I have
heard already is about several of these firms simply giving up and
leaving the industry.

Mr. COLLINS. To follow up on that, I assume you could support
easily a cap to say if the medical device tax at 2.3 percent of rev-
enue but cannot exceed something like 10 percent of profits, which
would answer the question of some company where they do not
even make 2.3 percent, certainly modifications like that which
bring the tax burden into alignment with the underlying economics
of these enterprises is the right thing to do. If you put aside the
large debate over the designability of the law, there is a lot of bad
tax policy in the Affordable Care Act. If you just look at it as tax
policy—the device tax, the investment tax, the health insurance fee
premium tax—are all designed in ways that have very perverse
economic incentives and need to be fixed.

Mr. COLLINS. Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman. I yield
back. )

Ms. VELAZQUEZ. Mr. Chairman, in light of the fact that there
is going to be a vote, I will defer to my colleagues on the democratic
side.

Chairman GRAVES. Thank you.

Ms. VELAZQUEZ. 1 will be coming back. I will ask my questions
later.

Chairman GRAVES. Mr. Schrader.

Mr. SCHRADER. Thank you, Mr. Chair.

Mr. Eakin, a lot of work—excuse me—on this issue. Did you take
into account the number of small business jobs that will be created
as a result of the consulting industries that are developing, doctors’
offices, nurse practitioners being hired to fulfill the need of imple-
menting the health care bill?

Mr. HOLTZ-EAKIN. We have not done a precise employment es-
timate.

Mr. SCHRADER. Okay. So that has not been done. Did you take
into account the benefits that will occur in lowering costs based on
the event of health that was testified by Ms. McQueeney, the fact
that we have lifestyle adjusted premiums that will obviously drive
down costs? Was that part of your analysis?

Mr. HOLTZ-EAKIN. There is no evidence that

Mr. SCHRADER. But you cited anecdotal evidence just a mo-
ment ago that the premiums are going to be going up maybe 50
percent and stuff.

Mr. HOLTZ-EAKIN. That is actually a survey.

Mr. SCHRADER. If I may reclaim my time.

My point is that while your study is prophesying doom and
gloom, the premiums on my small business, my little vendor world,
were going up double digits prior to any discussion about health
care reform. Every single business man/woman I knew in my great
state of Oregon was clamoring for health care reform. The real
world is the health care bill has not even taken effect yet. And that
is what the 9 percents that Mr. Tindall has talked about that are




13

9 to 10 percents that are gouging him. The higher double-digit in-
creases we have seen.

Now, the one point I think the panel has made very well, and
I truly appreciate it, is the uncertainty. You do not know what is
going to happen next. Is it going to get worse? Is it going to get
better? Did I buy a pig in a poke with this whole ACA thing? That
is legitimate, and unfortunately, it is going to be uncertain for a
little while. Panels like this can help inform us. I do agree with
frankly the discussion on the temporary workers. Our definition
there probably needs some tweaking. I think that is a really good,
solid point and hopefully we will bring that back.

The medical device issue though, I mean, I disagree again re-
spectfully, Mr. Holtz-Eakin, that all these new taxes are horrific
and going to stifle jobs in the industry. What was taken into ac-
count during the ACA discussion by the insurance companies, the
medical device manufacturers and everyone else that was going to
see a score of new lives, have access to their products, have access
to insurance that do not have access now, they are actually going
to drive the cost down over the long term. They are actually going
to be able to sell their devices where they could not sell very many
of them before.

So I think it is very important that we understand that during
the ACA, I did not hear a whole lot of discussion about this. After
the ACA, sure. No one wants to pay any more taxes than they have
to. I get that. But the real world 1s I think there is a tendency to
overstate things.

And the last comment I guess I would make that I think is ex-
tremely important is that we have already seen economists around
the world, maybe you are one of the few that does not agree, but
I just came from a presentation by Doug Elmendorf a few moments
ago. There seems to be a growing consensus among economists that
the moderation in health care costs—not just Medicare, not just
Medicare—but in private health care costs, it is not just because
the recession is preventing people from getting health care. That
is part of it. I get that. But it is because of the rethinking that the
medical community is thinking about how they deliver health care.
Bundled health care payments, more coordinated care. I mean, over
the long haul I think we will have huge benefits in driving costs
down.

And I am old enough to remember back when we looked at dif-
ferent types of health care premiums 15, 20 years ago, and my
state, we were trying to do this managed care thing and jeez, what
is that going to do? It drove costs down dramatically, despite the
initial fears that it was going to be the worst thing since, you
know, the invasion of France by the Germans for goodness sake.
So there has been some tremendous changes that I think we want
to figure out what the real score is going to be before we all say
it is horrible. Productively from the panel is there some key tweaks
we have to do? Get rid of the uncertainty as soon as possible.

Last, last comment is, you know, a question, I guess. How many
businesses, small businesses have less than 50 employees? Doctor,
do you know the answer to that one? I do but I am just asking.

Mr. HOLTZ-EAKIN. The number of small businesses?

Mr. SCHRADER. Less than 50 employees.
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Mr. HOLTZ-EAKIN. I do not know the precise number.

Mr. SCHRADER. Yeah, it is 97 percent.

So the bottom-line is most businesses, most real small busi-
nesses, are not going to be affected by this. They are totally unaf-
fected. They do not have to pay health insurance. Do not pay a
bloody penalty. Do not have to do anything except go to work every
bloody day. And their employees go to work.

So let us put this in perspective. I do agree—I am trying to be
collegial here—that those businesses between 50 and 200 employ-
ees—this is a tough deal. We have got to figure out how to make
this work for you all. Business as usual will not do it. And it is a
sad comment I think that health insurance premiums—I provide
health care to my employees. My maximum deductible says health
care costs went up. Got up to 200 to 500. Now 2,000 is not uncom-
mon. That is just a comment on the current system; let us make
it better.

And I yield back. Thank you.

Chairman GRAVES. Mr. Mulvaney.

Mr. MULVANEY. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Ms. McQueeney, I am a little confused because what I am hear-
ing is that your costs went up only very slightly because of the Af-
fordable Care Act, and Mr. Tindall’s went up a lot because the Af-
fordable Care Act has not yet been implemented. So I am a little
confused on that. But I want to talk more about your business.

I was listening to your story about your business and was won-
dering, your health insurance premiums should have gone up con-
siderably; right? I mean, you have had people with substantial
claims. You have had some people with some health issues. Your
health insurance premium should have gone up; right?

Ms. MCQUEENEY. I have been at Palm Beach Grove since 2000,
since the year 2000. And the premiums of health care have gone
up every single year, arbitrarily, whether we had a health experi-
ence or not.

Mr. MULVANEY. But last year

Ms. MCQUEENEY. Last year it went up, and I understood that
one because we had four horrendous cases. That I can understand.
But the previous 11 years I really could not understand.

Mr. MULVANEY. You had four horrendous cases and your pre-
mium only went up 0.2 percent?

Ms. MCQUEENEY. No, no, no. That was the year 2010-2011.
Last year, 2012. So the premiums for 2013 went up again.

Mr. MULVANEY. And I guess there is my point. You are em-
ploying—you said all your employees were in their 50s and their

Os.

Ms. MCQUEENEY. Yes. The ones that are on the plan; correct.

Mr. MULVANEY. Health care costs are not going down. Health
care costs continue to go up. They go up faster than the rate of in-
flation.

I would suggest to you, Ma’am, that the reason that you experi-
enced this particular benefit is because you were hiring people or
you have people who are 50 and 60 years old. And it is folks like
my business where we hire young people, folk 18, 20, 22—I ran a
restaurant—who are paying for your low rates.

Ms. MCQUEENEY. Would you like me to lay them off?
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Mr. MULVANEY. Ma’am, I will tell you that someone has to pay
for it. Someone has to pay for it. It is not free.

Ms. MCQUEENEY. I understand.

Mr. MULVANEY. You are getting it for free, and you are getting
it on the backs of people who are 18, 20, and 24 years old. If you
are a young person in this country, it used to be that the insurance
companies could charge you a much lower rate than they could to
older people. It was, I think, age banding or something like that.

Ms. MCQUEENEY. Would you prefer——

Mr. MULVANEY. The Affordable Care Act, Ma’am, I would be
happy to ask you a question in a few minutes. The Affordable Care
Act prevents us from doing that. The Affordable Care Act is now
forcing insurance companies to raise premiums on young, healthy
people because they are no longer able to offer them lower rates.

So I suggest to you that while it is great for your company, it
has worked out wonderfully for you, someone is paying for that.
And that someone happens to be folks who are probably under the
age of 30 and who are healthy.

Mr. Holtz-Eakin, you mentioned before about the medical device
tax. If my margin in my business is 2.3 percent or I am paying a
2.3 ﬁ)el;cent sales tax on my revenues, what percentage income tax
is that?

Mr. HOLTZ-EAKIN. It is nearly an infinite income tax. It is a
zero base.

Mr. MULVANEY. Exactly. If you are not making more than 2.3
percent gross margins, this is at least 100 percent income tax on
your business. That is what this act stands for. If you voted for this
act, you voted for a 100 percent increase on some businesses. One
hundred percent tax income or income tax on some businesses.
That is what I cannot get through a lot of my small businesses’
heads when they come in and say, “Oh, this has worked out for
me.” There are other folks for whom it did not work out for. There
is nothing free in this business. Someone is paying for your low
premiums, Ms. McQueeney, and my guess is it is several of the
other people here at this podium.

Ms. MCQUEENEY. Can I answer you, please?

Mr. MULVANEY. I did not ask you a question.

Ms. MCQUEENEY. Oh, I am so sorry. But I would just, respect-
fully, I would like to say to you I pay $1,200 a month with a $5,000
deductible. I am not taking anything for free from anyone. We have
people that pay $1,800 a month.

Mr. MULVANEY. Do you know how much the coverage costs?
How much the actual health care that your employees receive cost?
Do you know what you got in exchange for that premium?

Ms. MCQUEENEY. Can I ask you another question?

Mr. MULVANEY. I am asking you a question. Do you know——

Ms. MCQUEENEY. Last year we got an enormous amount of
money in health care for that. Absolutely.

Mr. MULVANEY. How much?

Ms. MCQUEENEY. How much they actually were billed for or
how much the insurance company actually paid?

Mr. MULVANEY. How much did it actually cost?

Ms. MCQUEENEY. Which number would you like?

Mr. MULVANEY. Tell me how much it actually cost.
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Ms. MCQUEENEY. No, which number would you like? I can give
you two numbers.

Mr. MULVANEY. If I ask you the question how much did it
cost:

Ms. MCQUEENEY. First of all, I do not have the records to my
employees. That is private information.

Mr. MULVANEY. You do not know the answer, do you?

Ms. MCQUEENEY. I do know the answer.

Mr. MULVANEY. None of us know the answer. None of us know
what health care costs in this country. You can go to the doctor
today and ask them—I do because I have a high deductible pro-
gram. What does it cost? Ma’am, please.

ffl})&s. MCQUEENEY. What would you like me to do? Lay people
off?

Mr. MULVANEY. Please. I do not want you to lay any people off.
I want you to understand——

Ms. MCQUEENEY. What would you like me to do then?

Mr. MULVANEY.—the fact that someone is paying for that and
it is young people in this country.

Ms. MCQUEENEY. I cannot access your health care. I have no
choice.

Mr. MULVANEY. I have the same—I have the same health care
as every other federal worker.

Ms. MCQUEENEY. But I do not have that choice.

Mr. MULVANEY. I have a high deductible program. I go to my
doctor’s office with a sick child and I say, “How much does this
visit cost?” Do you know what they tell me? They do not know. We
do not know what health care costs. You are complaining about a
premium that you say costs $1,200 a month. That is only an unrea-
sonable number depending on what you are getting in exchange for
that $1,200 worth of premium. If you are getting a million dollars
worth of actual benefit for $1,200, that is not a bad deal. And I
would suggest to you that we have broken down into a discussion
about health insurance, not the cost of health care. We are sitting
here discussing today what our premiums are, what happened to
our premiums, what we have to pay to our employees, and the dif-
ficulty is that we are not talking about the cost of health care; we
are talking about the cost of health insurance. And unless you
know what health care costs, you have no basis for saying that
ﬁouf health insurance is expensive, cheap, a great deal, or a lousy

eal.

I ask you one last question, Ms. McQueeney, which is you men-
tioned your daughter—oh, I am sorry. The clock was not turned on
so I lost track. I am sorry. I apologize. I yield back the balance of
my time.

Chairman GRAVES. Ms. Hahn.

Ms. HAHN. Thank you.

I am one of those that obviously does believe that the Affordable
Care Act is going to make for a healthier nation, a healthier busi-
ness climate. And I do know that there is a lot of misfortune of
misinformation out there, a lot of outright lies and deception that
are being propagated in terms of the Affordable Care Act.

I actually just held a workshop in my district with Natalie Orta
of the Small Business Administration and David Chase of the
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Small Business Majority. And I had about 25-30 small businesses
that actually for the first time heard the actual facts about what
the Affordable Care Act would mean to those small businesses. And
the first fact that bowled everybody over is what Dr. Schrader
talked about, which is 97 percent of the businesses will be exempt
from this because they have less than 50 employees.

But one of the things—by the end of the workshop everyone was
feeling a lot better about the benefits of the Affordable Care Act.
Many of them had also received the rebates from the insurance
company because they were not spending 80 percent of the pre-
miums on health care and only 20 percent on administration. So
that is already a huge benefit to people who are paying into the
system.

You know, I was going to ask Ms. McQueeney, you know, clearly
you felt it was important to offer your employees health insurance
even before the implementation of the Affordable Care Act. Could
you expand on that a little bit, particularly because some of your
competitors were not providing health insurance. You were spend-
ing a little bit more money on that. Could you share with us why
you felt that was an important thing to do and how did that ulti-
mately benefit your business?

Ms. MCQUEENEY. Well, the family that owns Palm Beach
Groves, they have always provided health care. And again, I have
to stress that this is how you get health care in this country is
through employment overall. And it used to be not a problem as
big as it is now. It is a huge problem, and every year you have to
make the choice can we continue on with this? Like Mr. Tindall
says, or do we need to cut the health care—do we need to cut their
insurance? It is not an easy decision to make but we do not have
any control over—I agree with him, we have no control over any
of the costs. I have no leverage with the insurance company. I can-
not go there and say, no, I want a better plan. There is just noth-
ing out there for us. So what am I supposed to do? That is my
question. I would like to have people answer me. What would you
like me to do? Not insure? Get on the rolls of the uninsured? I do
not want to do that.

Ms. HAHN. Well, that is what I was hoping you would elaborate
on a little bit. What are the benefits for you?

Ms. MCQUEENEY. The benefits are people are secure in their
jobs, they are great staffed, they know the company. I do not want
to lose them over this. They are like family to us. Am I going to
devastate people financially because they get sick to no fault of
their own? It is just the system is broken and we are trying to find
help here.

Ms. HAHN. Well, the system was broken and I think that is why
this Congress passed the Affordable Care Act to fix what was a
very broken system.

Ms. MCQUEENEY. But I do agree it is not addressing the cost.
It is not addressing the cost enough. And we have no control over
the cost whatsoever. I can go to a doctor’s office, and I have asked
how much is a particular procedure. And you get no answer. None.

Ms. HAHN. Right. And that is the real problem, is the real true
cost of health care.
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Ms. MCQUEENEY. If I have a heart attack I cannot say how
much will this cost to fix my heart because at that moment I might
not be capable to make that decision.

Ms. HAHN. Right. Well, again, I would urge my colleagues to
hold similar workshops with the Small Business Administration,
with those who are actually very knowledgeable in what the Af-
fordable Care Act does and walk people through—small businesses
out there are fearful. They are uncertain. And again, there are a
lot of lies out there that just are not telling the truth about what
this law will actually—how it will actually benefit people in this
country.

Thank you.

Chairman GRAVES. Mr. Schweikert.

Mr. SCHWEIKERT. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Just so conceptually there is an understanding, my friend, Mr.
Mulvaney, was basically just trying to describe transfer costs. Basi-
cally, we have decided to transfer costs to young taxpayers or just
young people in their health care costs to subsidize folks on the
other end of the age curve. So it is very simple. Once again, I think
the technical health care term is young people get screwed once
again.

Doctor, can you actually—a couple mechanical questions. I re-
peatedly hear stories of businesses that are basically now trying to
manage their employee counts to stay under 50, to stay under their
number of hours. What do you see happening out there? And some
of the blogosphere discussions on small business sites now talking
about how they are even trading employees, even though they are
separate organizations to keep them all under there, are we about
to see a transition in the small business economy to gain the new
health care law?

Mr. HOLTZ-EAKIN. Well, certainly, the incentives in the law are
what they are and they have been a concern. Exempting everyone
under 50 employees means that you penalize people for taking on
the 50th employee. And the incentive effects of that are one of the
things we are going to try to see how they play out, especially in
the part-time fund that we discussed before. It was a concern with
the small business tax credit which penalized paying people more,
taking on workers, how it was anti-growth and which the adminis-
tration in its budget actually proposed trying to reform for a year,
try to take some of those features out. But that cost $10 billion
every 10 years and shows you the problem, the tension in the law
on that front.

So what will ultimately happen? We do not know. It is something
I have been concerned about and we are watching carefully. I do
know that with subsidies as generous as the ones that we see in
the exchanges and the negative incentives to take people on as em-
ployees and offer them insurance, there is the real potential for
clever gaming of the system to leave people in the exchanges. And
that has been a concern from day one.

Mr. SCHWEIKERT. Mr. Gouldin.

Mr. SCHRADER. A point of order, Mr. Chair.

Chairman GRAVES. Yes.

Mr. SCHRADER. Just real quick. People cannot drop their busi-
ness coverage and move to the exchanges. They do not get any sub-
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sidies. If your employer offers you a legitimate health care plan
that meets the test, you cannot drop and go into the exchanges.

Mr. HOLTZ-EAKIN. That is true.

Mr. SCHWEIKERT. Hold on. My time.

Mr. Chairman, I was happy to yield but I do hope the left side
will also extend the same courtesies when we have a point of order.
All right? |

Ms. VELAZQUEZ. Excuse me, but the previous member——

Mr. SCHWEIKERT. Madam Ranking Member, I did not yield.
Okay? I was just making a simple, simple point so we can have the
dialogue.

Mr. Gouldin, back to my point and my time, if we are—basically
now have designed our economy through this health care law say-
ing you do not want to go over 50 employees

Mr. GOULDIN. Exactly.

Mr. SCHWEIKERT. You do not—we have just created a whole
series of incentives to not grow. What have you done to—mechani-
cally, your business, you are up against 50 employees. What would
you do? What do you do now?

Mr. GOULDIN. Well, in our case, we are above that line so I do
not have to think about that anymore. We are going to have to pay
the premiums, but you know, I think most of the analysis that I
have seen thus far has been talking about the escape penalty. And
I watched the escape penalty as it was being written. It started at
$400 and I tried to tell everybody that was just a sucker’s pitch.
And it went to 750. Then it went to 1,000, and it went to 2,000.
And anyone in this room or anybody in this country that thinks it
is going to stay at 2,000 is insane. It is going to go through the
roof—2,500, 3,000, 4,000, 5,000. It was designed to be the least ex-
pensive thing for an employer to do. And lay loose.

Mr. SCHWEIKERT. Is it Mr. Tindall?

Mr. TINDALL. Yes.

Mr. SCHWEIKERT. Okay. You were sharing with the Committee
that you have a small problem in the fact that you pay your em-
ployees on average over 50,000 a year; correct?

Mr. TINDALL. Yes.

Mr. SCHWEIKERT. I will ask you to turn on your mic.

Mr. TINDALL. I did. I am sorry.

Mr. SCHWEIKERT. I am sorry. Sometimes these things you
have to lean into.

So now we have created an environment where if you were actu-
ally rebuilding your compensation packages from a business mod-
eling standpoint you would do everything you could not to break
that 50,000, whether you had to find some way to gain it in other
mechanics, you need to stay under that $50,000 average to get
some of the benefits that are built into this law. Am I under-
standing your position?

Mr. TINDALL. I would have created it with a philosophy that
there were a number of employees that would do that just because
of the cost savings.

Mr. SCHWEIKERT. So once again we look at this new health
care law and we are doing everything in our power to transfer costs
to young people, to keep businesses from growing, and to suppress
salaries.
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Mr. Chairman, with that I yield back.

Chairman GRAVES. With that we have got one vote, so we will
adjourn and come back. Mr. Murphy will be up or whoever next.
Whoever is next in line.

It should not take us very long. Long enough for us to walk over
and walk back. I apologize for the inconvenience to all of you.
Nydia and I do not get to set the schedule, unfortunately.

[Recess.]

Mr. HANNA. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Ms. VELAZQUEZ. Go ahead. I am not ready.

Chairman GRAVES. Okay. We will go with Mr. Hanna.

Mr. HANNA. Thank you.

It is pretty clear to everybody there is a lot of hyperbole and
myths and disinformation associated with that and I would hope
that we do not need a health care provider in this room today the
way things go sometimes. This is one subject that gets very heated.

The Federal Reserve though recently, Mr. Holtz-Eakin, in their
own Beige book, our Federal Reserve, which examines economic
conditions across the country called and cited the health care bill
as a reason for employers having layoffs and holding back hiring.
Your January 13th analysis of major insurers, particularly that
across all markets the law will dramatically increase the cost of in-
surance for small employers, precisely that group most likely and
to be affected by this mandate, I would like you to speak to that
if you could, sir.

Mr. HOLTZ-EAKIN. Well, thank you. There are lots of reasons
to suspect that the provisions in the law would raise insurance pre-
miums, and whether it is the underlying benefit package or the in-
ability to charge young relatively less compared to older individ-
uals, the coverage of preexisting conditions, all of that has been de-
bated for a long time. So I thought what we ought to do is simply
take very specific insurance policies in very specific places, whether
they were Albany, New York or any other particular city that we
might want to look at, and then ask insurers what would the dif-
ferent provisions in the law do to the cost of a premium for this
particular policy? And we sent that to the insurers. They sent back
their answers to my lawyer.

Mr. HANNA. So this is as empirical as you could get it?

Mr. HOLTZ-EAKIN. We should go to the people who do this and
find out what the numbers are. And they are as I reported in my
written testimony, and we have a larger paper on it, quite striking
in many cases. Triple digits.

Mr. HANNA. Could you elaborate on that? I mean, I happy to
give you the balance of my time to talk about all of that.

Mr. HOLTZ-EAKIN. We tried to do this as impartially as we
could by picking very specific policies. We were not going to let in-
surers pick the policy that went up the most or anything like that.
We asked a very particular question. I do not know which insurers
answered. I do not know what individual insurer responses were.
They sent their survey responses to my lawyer, who signed a con-
fidentiality agreement. He added up the averages and brought
them to me.

Mr. HANNA. The broad conclusion was?
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Mr. HOLTZ-EAKIN. And the broad conclusion is for small em-
ployers, especially those with younger, healthier workforces, you
are going to see what I think of as sticker shock in health insur-
ance premiums come 2014.

Mr. HANNA. Generally, what would you say about the incentive
structures that are built within the employer mandate and the em-
ployee mandate, if you will?

Mr. HOLTZ-EAKIN. This raises the cost of employment. I mean,
there is no question about that. For those who are already offering
insurance, we made the benefits more rich and we see the premium
shock for those who are not. It is a more costly thing to get into.
For minimum wage workers, you cannot lower their wages to cover
the additional insurance cost. So this is a negative impact for em-
ployment. It is not offset in any serious way by other provisions of
the law. And the one thing we do know is that there is a very rich
set of benefits sitting out in the subsidized exchanges, and the con-
cern for a long time has been employers would get out of the busi-
ness of offering employer-sponsored insurance and they would end
up on the government and the taxpayers’ fist.

So those are the incentives. If you do not hire——

Mr. HANNA. So extrapolate from that. If I were to say to you
then this system is either implicitly or explicitly designed to move
towards a single-payer option, what would you say to that?

Mr. HOLTZ-EAKIN. I would say you cannot rule that out. Given
the structure of what is going on, employers are not going to hire.

Mr. HANNA. Without underlying cost savings

Mr. HOLTZ-EAKIN. If we are going to recognize they will not
cover whole families in many cases. They will offer affordable in-
surance to employee but not family coverage. We are going to have
other issues.

Mr. HANNA. So if we do not change the fundamental delivery
system of health care, whatever that means, ultimately this is only
going to cost more.

Mr. HOLTZ-EAKIN. Yes. The things I just covered were all in-
surance rate effects. Remember, insurance just covers the nation’s
health care bill. It shifts it around from one person to another. Our
problem is the bill is too big for the quality of care we get. That
is the core issue that remains to be solved.

Mr. HANNA. Do you have a few ideas on that? I have a minute
and a half here.

Mr. HOLTZ-EAKIN. I have a day and a half's worth of ideas on
that but, I mean, I think the number one thing that a Congress
could be would be to do Medicare reform. Medicare pays a lot of
America’s bills. It drives practice patterns. And at the moment it
is dominated by care that is uncoordinated, fee for service, and in
many ways drives bad practice patterns in the United States.

Mr. HANNA. How big a factor in all of that would you say—I
mean, we have talked about the fact that nobody in this room, cer-
tainly I do not, know what my health care costs. That is a big deal.

Mr. HOLTZ-EAKIN. Big problem.

Mr. HANNA. We are not informed purchasers of health care,
which is 18 percent of our economy. For many of us it is the biggest
thing we purchase on a regular basis. How big a problem is that?
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Mr. HOLTZ-EAKIN. That is a very big problem, both in the lack
of transparency in some cases, which should be fixed, and also the
lack of incentive to care what it costs. Third-party payer does that.

Mr. HANNA. Sure. So the people can basically get sick and hope
that the government can handle it, take care of 1t?

Mr. HOLTZ-EAKIN. The trouble is

Mr. HANNA. Not that anything wants to get fixed.

Mr. HOLTZ-EAKIN.—balance sheet recently, that guaranty is
far from perfect.

Mr. HANNA. Thank you. I yield back the balance of my time.

Chairman GRAVES. Ranking Member Velazquez.

Ms. VELAZQUEZ. Yes, thank you, Mr. Chairman.

I would just like to hear your comments. ACA, Affordable Care
Act, is the law of the land. It is happening. It will happen. It will
be fully implemented. We understand from anecdotal experience
shared with us that some businesses are facing premiums going up.
It looks like some insurance companies some might say are rushing
to increase the cost of premiums in light of the fact that there is
going to be full implementation of the Affordable Care Act. Is it not
true that once most of the important provisions of the Affordable
Care Act are implemented, one event that will bring transparency,
increasing the pool of people that will be insured, that that by itself
provides for more competition and will draw costs down?

Mr. HOLTZ-EAKIN. I do not think so. I think if you put aside
the health insurance aspects, which are a big part of the bill, as
I said before, the core issue is how much the United States spends
on health care and the purpose of insurance is to simply shift that
cost from one person to another so they stay within their financial
means. I do not think there was anyone who in the aftermath of
the signing of the Affordable Care Act felt it bent the cost curve.
The Congressional Budget Office did not say that.

Ms. VELAZQUEZ. Okay, if I ask you what is the one area you
recommend changes be made in order to make it better? It is going
to happen. You can come here and talk about your studies and re-
ports and everything, but it is going to happen. So we need to move
forward.

I would like to ask Ms. McQueeney, in your dealing with, you
know, the IRS, you learn from the IRS about the tax credits. You
took advantage of it. You got rebates back. What are you doing
with that money? Are you reinvesting that in your business?

Ms. MCQUEENEY. Absolutely.

Ms. VELAZQUEZ. What has been your experience with the IRS
in helping you navigate the system?

Ms. MCQUEENEY. Well, I am on a small business IRS e-mail
list, so if there is anything that affects our business then I get in-
formed that way. I downloaded the form. It takes about an hour
to do. And submitted it to the accountant and he submitted it and
we got the tax credit.

Ms. VELAZQUEZ. For the small businesses that are here, the
IRS released the proposed regulation just a few months ago. A
hearing will be held next week regarding feedback they receive. So
I would like to know if any of you or your respective trade associa-
tions provided any comments to express your concerns about these
guidelines. Have you done that?
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Mr. TINDALL. I was not aware of the Committee hearing going
on, and as far as I am aware of, our association has not provided
any testimony or any comment.

Ms. VELAZQUEZ. They have or have not?

Mr. TINDALL. Have not. Have not.

Ms. VELAZQUEZ. Okay. So then if you have not done that or
your association, and this is the process where public comment is
allowed, how do you think that the concerns that you have could
in any way be raised so that they consider those and come out with
a final rule?

Mr. TINDALL. I agree with you that we should be involved in
it but the problem is, again our primary responsibility is to run our
businesses and create jobs. And we, unfortunately, do not have the
time to focus on everything that is going on down here.

Ms. VELAZQUEZ. But the associations, your members, they are
supposed to do that.

Mr. TINDALL. Absolutely. Absolutely. But not every plumbing
and heating contractor across the country belongs to an association.
So, and I believe a large number of them do not by a lot. And so
for those people to be involved in the process, they do not even
know the process exists.

Ms. VELAZQUEZ. If it is a trade association, believe me, they
do. They do.

Yes, Mr. Gouldin.

Mr. GOULDIN. I personally have written to the IRS with my
comments throughout the entire process, plus this is what the
American Florists and the National Federal of Independent Busi-
ness have ajso.

Ms. VELAZQUEZ. Okay.

Mr. GOULDIN. Right now the biggest concern to my business is
that we are waiting for the IRS to rule on what is going to be the
definition of seasonal worker. Right now nobody seems to know
what that is going to be. That is a big issue.

Ms. VELAZQUEZ. Okay.

Ms. McQueeney, 90 percent of small businesses have 20 employ-
ees or less, which means that they are now subject to the insurance
mandate in the Affordable Care Act. However, these businesses are
eligible to receive tax credits, which you benefitted from. And so
given this reality, do you believe that the concerns regarding the
impact on small businesses are a little bit overblown?

Ms. MCQUEENEY. I can only speak for our business.

Ms. VELAZQUEZ. Sure.

Ms. MCQUEENEY. In our case it helped us with our 2011 year.
You know rates went up in 2013 or just last time period because
of what we experienced last year. But definitely, that was the first
time ever in all my years of Palm Beach Groves that the cost ever
went down.

Ms. VELAZQUEZ. Okay.

Ms. MCQUEENEY. It has been consistently going up.

Ms. VELAZQUEZ. Yes, Mr. Gouldin. I know that you have, what,
over 1507

Mr. GOULDIN. We range between 120 and 150. And your ques-
tion was whether or not we have seen health——
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Ms. VELAZQUEZ. Well, when people are making statements
about the mandate, it just—it makes it sound like it is going to im-
pact most small businesses when, in fact, 90 percent of all small
businesses have 20 employees or less.

Mr. GOULDIN. Well, it has direct and indirect impact. But you
are right in that the law requires participation once you hit 50 em-
ployees. But I think that all businesses, regardless of size, see the
paperwork and requirements of reporting as a major expense. In
our case, in our small company of 150 people, we will probably
have to hire an additional person full-time just to track our compli-
ance of our staff to their scheduling. It is a very complicated law.

And so its biggest expense to small businesses, even the ones
below 50, is the state of confusion that it has caused, and that is
the state of confusion caused by the complexity of the law.

Ms. VELAZQUEZ. Complexity and maybe misinformation. So we
have to do a better job as government and elected officials to pro-
vide the information and do workshops and bring government offi-
cials from HHS, IRS. I have done that in my district and believe
me, those who were confused are not that confused anymore and
are taking advantage of the tax credits provided by the law for
those type of businesses.

Many uninsured, Mr. Gouldin, many uninsured consumers are
forced to set-aside money in low interest accounts to make sure
that they have enough to cover unexpected medical costs. You men-
tioned how important it is to maximize employment and economic
growth. Would you agree that the security provided by health in-
surance can free up that savings for more purchases of consumer
goods? In fact, when we hear about surveys among small busi-
nesses, the number one issue that comes up is the lack of consumer
spending.

Mr. GOULDIN. I think that the number one problem we have
right now as a result of the financial collapse and the restructuring
is the lack of employment. And I am amazed by all the things that
I read all over the place about the stock market’s return and every-
thing else’s return, but employment is still terrible. And everybody,
all the greatest economists seem to be so befuddled. Why is no one
hiring? So my question is, well, I do not know. What has changed
during the process? And my answer to that is that, one, the Afford-
able Care Act got passed and a lot of businesses are confused and
frustrated and see additional costs coming their way that they are
trying to figure out what are they going to be. And we did raise
minimum wage 41 percent, the last year being 2009, right in the
middle of the recession. There is talk about raising it again.

Ms. VELAZQUEZ. Okay.

Mr. GOULDIN. So that would slow employment. And without an
increase in employment, you cannot get the economy back on its
feet. ,

Ms. VELAZQUEZ. 1t is just that we love to comment on surveys
conducted about small businesses and what they feel are the most
important obstacles hindering economic growth or expansion in
their businesses, and they mention the lack of consumers coming
through their doors, regulation, and health care number three,
four. So that is why I was making reference to it.
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Ms. McQueeney, more young adults are moving back home after
college, exactly for some of the reasons that Mr. Gouldin made ref-
erence to. It is very difficult to find employment. And now we know
that under the ACA, children can stay on their parents’ health in-
surance until they turn 26, ensuring that they have health cov-
erage. Are your employees finding this new benefit to be helpful for
their families?

Ms. MCQUEENEY. Yes. All of us, again, are in our 50s and 60s,
a{ld all of us have children that age. They are all on our health
plan. .

Ms. VELAZQUEZ. Thank you.

Chairman GRAVES. Mr. Tipton.

Mr. TIPTON. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. Thank you, panel, for
being here.

You know, last month I spoke to a Pizza Hut franchise owner in
my district. Nancy stated that the federal health care law has
caused a variety of issues for restaurants and employees, and one
of the biggest hindrances is a change that now classifies full-time
work as averaging only 30 hours per week. And she stated that be-
cause of this change alone she will not be hiring any more full-time
employees and eventually will have to be able to reduce some of
their formerly part-time employees to those hours. She described in
detail a conversation she had with one of her employees who was
literally in tears about the prospect of having those hours cut.

Some of you may well remember with me a time in this country
when we fought to have a 40-hour work week. Now we have got
people that are trying to fight to get a 40-hour work week. And be-
cause of the Affordable Care Act we are continuing to see I think
something that was well noted. Businesses that are afraid to hire.
We do not know what the costs are going to be and the impacts
economically across the board, I believe we truly have yet to fully
measure.

You know, Mr. Gouldin and Mr. Holtz-Eakin, maybe you would
answer for me the question when we are talking about regulatory
compliance. We have had numerous amounts of testimony in this
committee. Right now we are spending $1,750,000,000 in regu-
latory compliance. Small businesses are paying better than $10,000
per year per employee just to be able to comply with the federal
government. And you note now an additional $30 billion burden is
being put on the back of small businesses in this country. Is this
going to discourage hiring?

Mr. GOULDIN. I think without a doubt. As I said before, we
need a paradigm change in this country. Most of us have lived in
the belief of America the way it was post-World War II up until
1970, which was there would be plenty of employers to hire plenty
of employees. Those days are gone. We are in a competitive world
and we have to meet with competition. So whenever you increase
the cost of anything beyond what the market will bear, you create
problems. I think that from my experience of being in business 40
years, and I look at all the great successful businesses. The big
publicly ones, they are all in the business of labor elimination. I am
in the labor business. Our business hires people. We are a labor-
intensive craft industry, but all the efforts that most big businesses
that make a lot of money make it on is—think of Amazon. It is all
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labor elimination. So I think we just keep leering on costs of em-
ployment and thinking there will not be any impact. I am telling
you the impact is massive unemployment.

Mr. TIPTON. You know, I would like you both to maybe just give
a quick comment, if you would. This just came out on the Hill this
afternoon. Senator Max Bacchus, a democrat out of Montana, Sen-
ate Finance Chairman commenting to Secretary Sebelius. He said
Wednesday he fears a train wreck as the Obama administration
implements its signature health care law. “I see a huge train wreck
coming down,” Bacchus told Health and Human Services Secretary
Sebelius at a Wednesday hearing. “You and I have discussed many
times and I do not see any results yet.”

Is the confusion—is the cost one of the biggest obstacles where
government is not becoming a stepping stone to be able to create
success in this country but a stumbling block for American pros-
perity and job creation?

Mr. HOLTZ-EAKIN. Congressman, as I said in my opening re-
marks and my statement, the cost is real. I mean, these are self-
reported costs from the agencies, HHS in particular reported to the
administration. This law has 11—it is in my written testimony—
11 particular regulations which HHS has identified as having a sig-
nificant economic impact on small entities. That is a very unusual
number. This just does not happen very often. So I think the scale
of the costs are real. You cannot ignore that.

The second thing is the uncertainty is enormous about what will
and will not get done. I think Senator Bacchus’s comments reflect
the uncertainty about whether the exchanges will be up and run-
ning on time. We have already seen the administration put off the
so-called shop provisions which were supposed to provide options
for small businesses. Just what will be there of the law is an open
question.

Mr. TIPTON. It truly is. And one thing I thought we ought to
be very clear on. You know, we talk about tax credits. It is some-
thing that the president is now calling loopholes. He is trying to
be able to create more of them. Someone will pay for those loop-
holes that the president is now creating. And my biggest concern
as a small businessman is there is a quantitative difference be-
tween everybody in the country having health insurance versus
quality health care. I can tell you this as a matter of fact. We are
on the cusp of a rising health care crisis in rural America simply
because of the Affordable Care Act. We are seeing doctors drop out
of the system. We are not going to be able to see that delivery. We
can have all of the insurance in the world, but if there are not doc-
tors there to be able to accept it we are going to be hurting health
care in America.

Mr. Chairman, I yield back. Thank you.

Chairman GRAVES. Ms. Clarke.

Ms. CLARKE. Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman. And I
thank the ranking member, Ms. Velazquez. I thank our panelists
this afternoon for your testimony here today.

As a member of one of the committees of jurisdiction in the 111th
Congress, the former Education and Labor Committee, I am proud
of the work that Congress was able to do in providing the American
people with quality health care regardless of preexisting conditions.
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As with any new law, there is bound to be confusion, as well as
apprehension as it is implemented, and I look forward to working
with my colleagues and the small business community at large in
ensuring that our small businesses and entrepreneurs are educated
on all of the provisions and ensuring that it causes as little disrup-
tion as possible.

Having said that, my first question is to you, Mr. Gouldin. Un-
like larger businesses, most small firms do not have a legal depart-
ment to assist with tax compliance. How much time and money
have you dedicated to navigating the tax credit and employer pay-
ment regulations?

Mr. GOULDIN. Navigating the tax credit?

Ms. CLARKE. Mm-hmm. And employer payment regulations.

Mr. GOULDIN. We do not have any idea how many hours we
have spent. We have a HR department which consists of my wife
and my daughter and I am the president. The three of us have
spent I do not know how many man-hours trying to understand
this law. My wife is at a seminar today trying to figure out what
in the world the law means.

Ms. CLARKE. So as you get more familiar with the new tax
rules, do you expect the calculations and decisions will get easier
with time? And if so, why? And if not, why not?

Mr. GOULDIN. Do I think the decisions will get easier with
time? I have no way of knowing. Right now there are still too many
issues.

Ms. CLARKE. Well, I mean, you have had an opportunity along
with your family to begin this process, so you have somewhat of a
sense of what it takes. And I am wondering whether you think you
will be more familiar and whether that as you become more famil-
iar it becomes easier for you to be able to navigate.

Mr. GOULDIN. It will get easier if it gets clarified. That is the
biggest issue is there have been so many questions. There are
many departments in the government today that have differing
opinions on the law from one branch to the other. So what would
be very helpful—

Ms. CLARKE. You are thinking clarification——

Mr. GOULDIN. I think that if there was——

Ms. CLARKE.—would be one of the major pieces to assist?

Mr. GOULDIN. It would be very helpful if there was a definitive
organization in the federal government that spoke for the entire
federal government instead of having five or six different interpre-
tations by the SBA versus another department. There is no place
to go to for the employer to get detailed information about interpre-
tation of the law. They have to go to associations to get that. If you
want to go to the federal government and get a marketing position
on it, that is fine. But we need detailed employment information.
Hopefully, it will get easier.

Ms. CLARKE. Very well, Mr. Gouldin. I appreciate that.

Ms. McQueeney, the state exchanges have the potential to bring
small employers together to offer coverage while also keeping
prices affordable. Do you think this will allow small firms to com-
pete on a level playing field with their larger counterparts when at-
tracting the most talented workers?
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Ms. MCQUEENEY. I do not know yet. The state of Florida is
probably not going to implement a state exchange and we still do
not know what is going on there. So I really cannot give you a clear
answer on that.

Ms. CLARKE. And have you seen any benefit to the law?

Ms. MCQUEENEY. Well, the benefits to our small company have
been there. Yeah. We got the tax credit and we got the refund
check from the insurance company. I think one of the more impor-
tant parts of the law is the medical loss ratio and I think that is
the one part that actually keeps costs under control because they
have to spend that much money on medical care, and if they do not
they have to rebate it. So to me that is probably the most impor-
tant part of the law.

Ms. CLARKE. Very well.

Mr. Chairman, I yield back the balance of my time.

Chairman GRAVES. Mr. Huelskamp. Do you want to go?

Mr. Rice.

Mr. RICE. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Small business people here, thank you very much for being here,
and you, too, Mr. Holtz-Eakin. You know, I do not think we have
ever formally met but I have heard you a couple of times and I
have quoted you dozens of times, and I appreciate very much you
being here as well. Thank you to you small business people for tak-
ing time to come and educate us about the particular problems and
circumstances you face.

I have been a tax lawyer and CPA for 25 years. I have carried
health insurance for all of my employees. When you have got to
buy health insurance you choose the kinds of coverage you want.

I am curious, do you all carry maternity coverage for your em-
ployees? All of you?

Mr. GOULDIN. Yes.

Ms. MCQUEENEY. Yes.

Mr. TINDALL. Yes.

Mr. RICE. Do you all carry mental health coverage?

Mr. GOULDIN. Yes.

Ms. MCQUEENEY. Yes.

Mr. TINDALL. Yes.

Mr. RICE. And substance abuse?

[No audible response.]

Mr. RICE. And oral care? And dental care?

Mr. GOULDIN. No.

Ms. MCQUEENEY. No.

Mr. TINDALL. Yes.

Mr. RICE. Under this law there are things that they define as
essential health benefits, and by law, if you—you know, you do not
have to provide insurance if you are under 50 employees, but if you
do, they have to meet these criteria, these essential health benefits
criteria. So where I chose as an employer and with my employees
what kind of coverages we were going to buy, guess what? You do
not have those choices anymore. The federal government is now
going to choose that for you. They are going to dictate the kind of
coverages that you have to buy. And those coverages, do you think
they are free? They cost money. And you are going to pay for them.
And not only are you going to pay for yours, but those other people
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that need to be subsidized, you are going to pay for theirs, too.
Thus, all these taxes and such.

Mr. Holtz-Eakin, the effect of these taxes, the effect of this mas-
sive regulation, the effect of all this uncertainty, it is obvious but
what is the effect on the employment status in the United States?

Mr. HOLTZ-EAKIN. This is a negative. I do not think there is
any way around that. Whatever your other objectives might be, if
you set out to enhance job creation and growth in the United
States you would not pass a bill with a trillion dollars of taxes, a
large entitlement program, and this amount of regulation. That is
not a good strategy.

Mr. RICE. My opinion is we are the greatest nation on earth and
we have been in a long dip, but if we could ever get our tax policy,
if we could get past this health care debate, if we could take the
blinders off, get rid of the uncertainty, and put into effect a com-
petitive tax rate, get these regulations off our business, I think we
are ready to gallop. But this is just one more example of govern-
ment inserting itself into business, trying to make decisions for
business “one size fits all,” and hamstringing our businesses and
making us less competitive. It is one more reasons why we see mil-
lions of American jobs hemorrhage overseas very year. And until
we stop this it will continue.

Thank you very much.

Chairman GRAVES. Mr. Payne.

Mr. PAYNE. Thank you, Mr. Chairman, to the Ranking Member,
the Committee. Thank you for all your testimony. I apologize for
my tardiness in getting here today. It has been one of those days
where I just had a bad start and have not been able to catch up.

Most of your testimonies mentioned a need for the increased edu-
cational materials and outreach regarding health care laws, the
law. And you know, thank you for mentioning that, in addition to
encouraging HHS to provide increased awareness about the
changes due to the Affordable Care Act. I will be hosting meetings
in my district for constituents and will be sure to include small
businesses in those discussions.

And T have a question for the panelists. You know, due to the
nature of the costs associated with small health plans, small busi-
nesses have long been vulnerable to steep premium hikes. In fact,
health care premiums increased roughly 129 percent since 2000,
forcing many small businesses to drop health coverage prior to the
enactment of the Affordable Care Act. And in her testimony, Ms.
McQueeney mentioned annual double-digit rate increases for her
company’s plan prior to the enactment of the Affordable Care Act.
Can the rest of you discuss the rate increases you have experienced
prior to this law as well?

Mr. GOULDIN. I looked it up before coming here and I think I
put it in my testimony that I looked back to income statements
back to 1968. We were providing health care back then to all of our
staff and we only had three or four employees. And it was 0.44 of
sales, and last year it was almost 2 percent of sales. So that is
quite a bit higher. Five times higher as a percentage of sales. And
of course, sales have been rising over the years.

Mr. TINDALL. We have experienced the same thing. I mean, the
health care costs have gone up in the 20 years I have been in busi-
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ness. Almost every year, I cannot remember a year that it did not
go up, most years by double-digits. So it has been on the increase.
But we still have not seen any benefit yet from the health care re-
form. Our premiums have not been noticeably different on the in-
crease and the projected increase for next year, you know, could be
significantly greater than what the past increases have been. So I
do not know whether that is an evolution of the insurance compa-
nies trying to get ahead of the curve or what, but again, as the tes-
timony was that small businesses do not have much leverage with
insurance companies. They give you a premium and you pay it or
you move on. And there is no leverage. So it has been a problem.

Mr. PAYNE. You know, and I think that that is one of the major
issues that will be faced as what insurance companies are doing
now to bump their rates up in preparing for in the Affordable Care
Act how they will be controlled. So it is a false increase in pre-
miums to get it, as you said, get ahead of the curve because they
know at some point with the Affordable Care Act that they will not
have the opportunity to do so in the future.

And you know, last year the leadership blocked the funding for
implementation of the Affordable Care Act which obviously impacts
the success of the law and influenced the concerns that individuals
such as Mr. Bacchus might have had. So I just wanted to put that
on the record. And I yield back.

Chairman GRAVES. Mr. Huelskamp.

Mr. HUELSKAMP. . Thank you, Mr. Chairman. I appreciate the
testimony from the three small business owners. I had a number
of questions. Just trying to follow up and take in a few of the com-
ments which I will say are in many cases quite different from what
I hear from my constituents in terms of it is very hard to find any
support in the small business community or even in the medical
field, providers. I come from a rural area, just like my colleague,
Mr. Tipton from Colorado, and I have some real concerns about
what occurs there.

I want to follow up first with Ms. McQueeney about—I did not
understand—I was not clear what your annual premiums were.
Was that your total for businesses? Can you restate again what
those were for your business?

Ms. MCQUEENEY. Our premiums are tiered, so we are—I pay
different for young men, say from 20 to 25, versus a young woman
from 20 to 25. We are tiered by gender. We are tiered by age. So
every premium is different.

Currently, I can give you an example of a 55-year-old who has
her family on there. It is $1,868 a month with a $5,000 deductible.
In my case, my daughter found health care on her own. For me and
my husband it is $1,242, plus a $5,000 deductible. So it is different
for each and every employee, depending on what their -cir-
cumstances, their age, and their sex is.

Mr. HUELSKAMP. I appreciate the clarification. I heard the
$1,200 a month earlier and did not know who that applied to.

Ms. MCQUEENEY. That applied to myself, yeah.

Mr. HUELSKAMP. And how many employees are covered under
your plan?

Ms. MCQUEENEY. Currently, there are three employees cov-
ered. The fourth one passed away last year.
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Mr. HUELSKAMP. Three employees including yourself?

Ms. MCQUEENEY. Including myself.

Mr. HUELSKAMP. So there are just two employees that we are
talking about here?

Ms. MCQUEENEY. Well, I am an employee of the company.

Mr. HUELSKAMP. Okay.

Ms. MCQUEENEY. Right. So there are three of us and then we
cover our families.

Mr. HUELSKAMP. And the part-time workers that you employ,
do you provide coverage.

Ms. MCQUEENEY. The seasonal, no.

Mr. HUELSKAMP. Where do they get their health care or health
insurance coverage, do you know?

Ms. MCQUEENEY. I have one who is Medicare age, so she is on
Medicare. And the other ones we do not provide health care for.

Mr. HUELSKAMP. Do you know if they have——

Ms. MCQUEENEY. And they have no health care.

Mr. HUELSKAMP. They have none and you do not provide that
for them. Okay. Well, I appreciate the clarification.

Comment and perhaps question for the doctor here. But if you
look at the actual cost and the actual impact from the Congres-
sional Budget Office, they are expecting it is going to cost $1.88
trillion, double what was guestimated just a couple years ago. They
also guestimate that 7 million employees will lose employer-spon-
sored health care. And in so doing that it also robs $700 billion out
of Medicare to pay for this. And at the end of the day, Doctor, how
much does this add to the deficit under the CBO score, do you
know, Doctor?

Mr. HOLTZ-EAKIN. If you take the CBO score at face value, this
is about $100 billion addition to the deficit over 10 years. And
there have been—I will just say there has been a lot of question
about whether that is a sensible projection from the beginning but
that is their current estimates.

Mr. HUELSKAMP. So how can folks claim this is going to reduce
health care costs if it is increasing spending, increasing taxes, and
increasing the deficit?

Mr. HOLTZ-EAKIN. CBO, when it put out in particular its long-
term budget which reflects the cost of these big health programs
in the federal budget, they made it very clear that they did not
change their long-term projections or the rise in health care costs
after the law was passed. And so they saw no real change in that
part of the equation.

Mr. HUELSKAMP. I appreciate it.

One last thing, and if there are some comments from the busi-
ness owners I would appreciate that. I was just at a business by
the name of Hercules, they decided that there are certain mandates
from Kathleen Sebelius and this administration that morally they
refuse to cover. But according to the law they are mandated to
cover that. They won their lawsuit. I wonder if there is any re-
sponse from the three business owners or there are things morally
you might be opposed to that folks covering their health care plans
or are you comfortable with any mandate that comes out of Kath-
leen Sebelius’s office?
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Mr. GOULDIN. Sir, I do not have any complaints thus far but
to give a blanket comfortableness, I do not think that is possible.

Mr. HUELSKAMP. Do you cover every option that your insur-
ance company says they will cover?

Mr. GOULDIN. We have pretty broad coverage. The only thing
we do not cover—we provide dental but we have the employees do
that through payroll deduction. I do not pay for that because when
I investigated most dental coverage, the premiums per annum were
greater than the care given so I felt that was a pretty bad bargain.

Mr. HUELSKAMP. Ms. McQueeney.

Ms. MCQUEENEY. The same here. Yes. With pretty broad cov-
erage and we do not supply dental or vision.

Mr. HUELSKAMP. Do you pay for abortion and contraceptions
or contraceptives as mandated?

Ms. MCQUEENEY. Contraceptives are part of our——

Mr. HUELSKAMP. Abortions, do you pay for those under your
company’s plan?

Ms. MCQUEENEY. We are in our 50s and 60s.

Mr. HUELSKAMP. Not all your employees.

Ms. MCQUEENEY. There are not a lot of abortions I think going
on at the moment.

Mr. HUELSKAMP. That was not the question, ma’am. The ques-
tion is does your coverage supply that. I thought you had some
younger folks.

Ms. VELAZQUEZ. Will the gentleman yield?

Mr. HUELSKAMP. Absolutely. I am out of time. If the ma’am
would answer the question, I would appreciate that.

Ms. VELAZQUEZ. I just wanted to know if:

Mr. HUELSKAMP. I have not yielded, ma’am.

Does your coverage provide for abortion coverage?

Ms. MCQUEENEY. I would think so.

Mr. HUELSKAMP. And the gentleman on the end?

Mr. TINDALL. I am sure it does but, again, we as small business
people do not have control over what the packages are. We are very
limited to what we can buy on the open market, and especially in
my state of New Jersey, I am very sure that it is included.

Mr. HUELSKAMP. I would welcome you to come to Kansas. We
have had a lady for eight years as insurance commissioner that ul-
timately destroyed our insurance market and we lost a lot of cov-
erage.

I yield

Mr. COLLINS. The gentleman’s time has expired.

Mr. Luetkemeyer.

Mr. LUETKEMEYER. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

I know one of the comments that was made here a couple times
has been uncertainty. In the small business world it is hard to plan
if you have no idea what the future holds to be able to make the
kind of investments and sort of proper plans for your business to
grow and be successful.

My understanding is that there is probably about 700 rules to be
yet promulgated, Mr. Holtz-Eakin. Is that pretty close? I mean, I
am sure you probably know more than—that is about half of them,
a ballpark figure; okay? So that would be certainly another reason
for the uncertainty among a lot of folks.
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Also, a while ago I know there was a comment made with re-
gards to 97 percent of the small businesses being under 50. Let us
take that number and break that down. Let us say for instance
that the average small business is 10 employees and you have
1,000—I mean, 970 employees that would be covered. Yeah, 97
businesses times 10 is 970 people you are talking about. If the
other 3 percent, which is 50 to 500 would be an average of 300, you
are looking at 900 people being covered. So you are in the ballpark
of 50 percent but let us just say if we are talking and being con-
servative, let us say only 40 percent of the employees are impacted.
We are talking about people now. We are not talking about compa-
nies or insurance. We are talking about real people whose lives are
being affected by what is going on with this health care bill.

I had a gentleman in my office yesterday who has a Taco Bell
franchise. He is not going to allow people to have overtime. He is
going to put them underneath the 30-some hours that it takes. And
they are either going to have to do one of two things. Either learn
to live on less or get a second job. This bill will have a tremendous
impact on people’s lives. Not just their health care but on their
lives as well and that is the point I want to make.

I know that in your testimony, Mr. Holtz-Eakin, you talked about
young people getting out of the market and having an impact on
the health insurance as well. I know that we have in our package
here, a February 17th article of the New York Times with regards
to a lot of small businesses going to be self-insuring. That would
certainly impact, I think, the pool of how this all works. Have you,
Mr. Gouldin, Ms. McQueeney, and Mr. Tindall, have you thought
about self-insuring at all, looked into it at all? Is this something
that you may have to consider down the road as an option?

Mr. GOULDIN. I have not looked at self-insurance. I cannot
imagine a small business even conceiving of really having self-in-
surance of health care because of the cost of health care. One em-
ployee’s major incident would wipe you out. So what we have
looked at and I have always thought might be more efficient than
what we have been doing, I have been paying 100 percent of the
premium for our employees. I now realize that is probably not very
smart. I have been part of the problem. But what we would like
to learn more about is health savings accounts and how deductible
insurance, I do think it is very important that as many humans in
this country get involved in the decision-making on health care is
the only way you are going to get the cost down.

Mr. LUETKEMEYER. If I am not mistaken, I think health sav-
ings accounts went by the wayside with this bill.

Ms. McQueeney.

Ms. MCQUEENEY. Actually, we do have a health savings ac-
count. I have a $5,000 deductible before health insurance pays any-
thing.

Mr. LUETKEMEYER. My question though is have you consid-
ered self-insurance?

Ms. MCQUEENEY. I would definitely not consider that.

Mr. LUETKEMEYER. Okay. Mr. Tindall.

Mr. TINDALL. No. The liability that you would incur or the po-
tential liability would put you out of business.
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Mr. LUETKEMEYER. Okay. Mr. Holtz-Eakin, can you kind of
put a face on this and whether this is a good deal, bad deal? What
size business you thought it would be something that would be
impactful on or where everybody else should go with this? I am
sure you have probably got some ideas.

Mr. HOLTZ-EAKIN. One of the concerns I had when the bill first
passed—I will have to go back and review and see if the rule-mak-
ing changed—you could actually opt to self-insure when things are
going well and then giving guaranteed issue, a firm could then
jump into another product if they got someone in their firm who
got sick. So what you would end up with is self-insured low cost
people with very high cost small firms in the exchanges. Those dy-
namics remain to be played out.

Mr. LUETKEMEYER. My time is about up and I just want to
make one more point here.

You know, I saw in some of the testimony here that—I think it
was Mr. Holtz-Eakin—the cost benefit analysis of the paperwork
here is a 3 to 1 negative, which is kind of not surprising I guess
because it is a government program. But it was interesting. I had
a gentleman in my office yesterday, as I was saying, and with all
the paperwork, the fire marshal came in and cited him for all the
paper in his office. So just another problem to deal with.

Thank you, Mr. Chairman. I yield back.

Mr. COLLINS. Ranking Member Velazquez, do you have any
questions? |

Ms. VELAZQUEZ. No, I do not.

Mr. COLLINS. Okay. Thank you.

I do have one for Dr. Holtz-Eakin. The $100 billion health insur-
ance tax, which is going to be imposed on all health insurance com-
panies, I know my own concern is there may be companies with
less than 50 employees that do provide health insurance. Common
sense would say those costs are going to be passed on. Do you have
a comment on how the health insurance tax, that $100 billion,
might impact any and all health insurance policies?

Mr. HOLTZ-EAKIN. I expected that tax to be fully passed for-
ward into the premiums that people pay for their health insurance.
No question about it.

Mr. COLLINS. That would be mine as well.

I want to thank Mr. Tindall, Ms. McQueeney, Mr. Gouldin, and
Dr. Holtz-Eakin for your time today. Your testimony was very valu-
able. We will continue to monitor the implementation of the health
care law and its impact on small business. We will be sending a
letter to the Ways and Means Committee, Chairman Camp, and
Ranking Member Levin to share the testimony today that we re-
ceived, and I do ask unanimous consent that members have five
legislative days to submit statements and supporting materials for
the record.

Without objection, so ordered.

I ask unanimous consent that the following material be inserted
into the record. A May 2012 Government Accountability Office Re-
port titled “Small Employer Health Care Tax Credit Factors Con-
tributing to Low Use and Complexity,” the U.S. Chamber of Com-
merce Fourth Quarter 2012 Small Business Outlook Survey show-
ing 86 percent of small businesses believe that regulations and
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taxes will impact their ability to operate with healthcare regula-
tions causing the most concern, and a February 7, 2013 New York
Daily News article titled “Small business owners have no strategy
for coping with rising health care costs.”

Without objection, so ordered.

The hearing is now adjourned.

[Whereupon, at 3:09 p.m., the Committee was adjourned.]
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Chairman Graves, Ranking Member Velazquez, members of the
Committee, thank you for the opportunity to testify today regard-
ing the Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act (ACA)’s impact
on small businesses. The American Action Forum keeps a close eye
on the impacts of the law’s implementation, and carefully tracks
the regulatory burden of federal rules and administrative actions.
I'm pleased to share some of those details with the Committee.

The review provides four main lessons regarding the Affordable
Care Act and the growth of small businesses:

e It imposes numerous costly regulatory burdens,

e It creates further regulatory uncertainty at a time when
we need small business entrepreneurs to hire,

e The law’s taxes and fees create disincentives for small
businesses to expand, and

e It raises the cost of providing insurance for employees
while concurrently penalizing firms that fail to do so.

Let me discuss each in turn.

The Regulatory Burden of the ACA

The ACA’s regulatory burden already exceeds $30 billion on pri-
vate, state, and local entities. With more than 80 million paper-
work burden hours, the law’s implementation also imposes heavy
burdens for small businesses and rural hospitals, two aspects that
even the Administration’s own regulations concede.

When the Congressional Budget Office (CBO) reviewed ACA
under the Unfunded Mandates Reform Act (UMRA), it acknowl-
edged the law “would greatly exceed” statutory cost thresholds ($70
million for local governments and $141 for the private sector) “in
each of the first five years that the mandates would be in effect.”
After approximately three years of implementation, ACA’s regu-
latory burdens have greatly exceeded UMRA’s thresholds.

According to AAF’s database of all federal regulations, ACA has
imposed $24 billion in costs on private entities, $9.8 billion in bur-
dens on state and local governments, and more than 80 million pa-
perwork burden hours. These regulatory costs will place tremen-
dous pressure on doctors, hospitals, health issuers, and small busi-
nesses.

For example, ACA’s 80 million hours of paperwork is the equiva-
lent of 39,822 employees working an entire year filling out the
law’s new paperwork (assuming a 2,000-hour work year). We can
conceptualize paperwork burdens by examining gross domestic
product per hour worked. According to the Bureau of Labor Statis-
tics, that figure was $61.59 in 2011. Thus, ACA’s red tape alone
costs the U.S. approximately $4.9 billion annually, a figure that
will grow as the pace of implementation quickens this year.

White House estimates confirm that HHS’s paperwork burden
has increased. In FY 2008, HHS imposed 412.8 million hours of red
tape; in FY 2011, that figure stood at 518.8 million, a jump of 106
million hours, or 25 percent in just three years. ACA is the direct
cause of many of these new requirements. The figure below details
HHS’s rising regulatory burden, with the pronounced jump in 2010.
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Finally, AAF did not end its analysis with the law’s costs alone.
We also searched the relevant Regulatory Impact Analyses (RIA’s)
to determine aggregate benefits. Sadly, costs outweigh benefits by
a factor of at least 3 to one - $33.8 billion in costs to $9 billion in
quantified benefits. ACA not only fails the regulatory cost-benefit
test, but the budgetary and policy tests as well.

Regulations with “a significant economic impact on a substantial
number of small entities.” Under the Regulatory Flexibility Act
(RFA) and its subsequent amendments, all federal agencies must
consider the impact of their proposal on small entities, seek appro-
priate input, and develop regulatory alternatives for small busi-
nesses. Agencies have the flexibility to ignore the RFA, mostly be-
cause the key term is undefined, so acknowledging that a regula-
tion imposes a “significant economic impact on a substantial num-
ber of small entities” is rare.

Below are the eleven regulations that HHS estimated would
place significant burdens on small businesses. Combined, rural hos-
pitals and doctors would incur more than $1.9 billion in burdens
and 11.3 million paperwork hours.
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ACA Rules Burdening Smali Businesses According to HHS
Regulation Cost Paperwork Burden
Proposed Menu Labeling | $757.1 Million 622,000 Hours
Final Shared Savings Program $451 Million N/A
Proposed Vending Machine Labeling | $423.1 Million 842,000 Hours
Final Physician Fee Schedule | $172.9 Million 365,197 Hours
Proposed Covered Outpatient Drugs | $81.4 Million 391,212 Hours
Final Billing for Skilled Nursing Facilities |  $29.93 Million 913,884 Hours
Final Payment Policies | $11.58 Million 196,509 Hours
Final Patient Notification Requirements $2.55 Million 138,032 Howrs
Final Outpatient Prospective Payment N/A 1,010,876 Hours
Final Inpatient Prospective Payment N/A 6,838,293 Hours
Final Hospital Payment System N/A N/AT
Aggregate Small Business Impact: $1.9 Billion and 11.3 Million Hours

These regulations are only part of the law’s overall burden. Sev-
eral of the administration’s regulatory analyses admit they will ad-
versely affect small rural hospitals. One proposal covering Skilled
Nursing Facilities [SNF] stated, “We anticipate that the impact on
small rural hospitals would be similar to the impact on SNF pro-
viders overall. Therefore, the Secretary has determined that this
final rule may have a significant impact on the operations of a sub-
stantial number of small rural hospitals.”

Although $1.9 billion in costs, and adverse impacts on doctors
and rural hospitals might appear significant, the actual burden is
much higher. Many of the administration’s formal regulatory publi-



40

cations never capture the macroeconomic impact. The impact on
small businesses is likely much greater than $1.9 billion.

Increased Regulatory Uncertainty

Since 1996, after the latest round of amendment to the Regu-
latory Flexibility Act, the White House has published two “Unified
Agendas” of federal regulations every year. Last year, however, the
administration decided simply not to publish a spring agenda, leav-
ing industries across the U.S. guessing about long-term regulatory
actions. The lone agenda was not published until shortly before
Christmas.

This policy toward the Unified Agenda was unprecedented, and
did little to foster transparency in an administration that touts its
openness. In addition to delays in the Unified Agenda, the adminis-
tration has also imposed several self-inflicted delays that only add
to this uncertainty. In an AAF study last year, we found HHS
missed nearly half of its self-imposed deadlines for proposed and
final ACA rules.

This tardiness has reached into approving state exchanges as
well, which are supposed to be open for enrollment to individuals
and small businesses in October 2013. The timeline for certifying
state exchanges under the law has been modified frequently during
the past years; few think the administration will be ready with
functioning exchanges by the ACA deadlines.

Two recent polls do suggest that businesses and consumers are
concerned about this uncertainty. The latest, from Gallup, found
that 56 percent of small-business owners worry about “new govern-
ment regulations.” The survey of 601 participants concluded,
“[Tlhat so many owners say worries about such things as potential
healthcare costs and potential new government regulations are
holding back hiring is troublesome for the job market outlook.”

This evidence echoes an earlier poll from Gallup on regulations.
In a September 2012 poll of 1,017 adults, 47 percent said there was
“too much” regulation, as opposed to 26 percent who stated there
was “too little” regulation. Gallup notes this data is hardly an aber-
ration. “In fact, over the 15 times since 1993 that Gallup has asked
this question, never have more than a third of Americans said
there 1s too little regulation of business and industry.”

Regulatory uncertainty does not have to be the norm. It gives
markets and states the expectation that the law will move forward
based on partisan motives, as opposed to good public policy. The
least the administration could do is ensure transparency and issue
timely regulations with the legally prescribed cost-benefit analysis.

Unfortunately, in a difficult economy, and an otherwise uncertain
spending and regulatory environment, ACA leaves small employers
with a large paperwork burden, higher costs, and an even greater
degree of uncertainty. Those in health-related fields are more di-
rectly impacted than others, but many firms now have at least
eleven more regulatory reasons not to expand. Although the law

1 According to the rule, “These requirements are exempt from the PRA [Paperwork Reduction
Act] in accordance with the provisions of the Affordable Care Act.” 75 Red. Reg. 72238.
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may have been well intentioned, its implementation negatively af-
fects the small businesses and start-ups that might otherwise be
hiring new employees and creating wealth.

Taxes and Fees Hamper Small Businesses

Beyond the regulatory impact, the law contains new fees and
taxes that negatively affect small businesses and their employees.

Businesses with fifty or more employees are subject to a $2,000
per employee (in excess of 30 full-time employees (FTEs)) penalty
if they do not provide coverage. This penalty includes businesses
that have less than 50 full-time employees, if they have a signifi-
cant number of part-time employees. For example, a company with
33 full-time employees and 30 part-time employees is considered an
employer of 50 full time employees, given that 30 part-time em-
ployees amount to the equivalent of 17 full-time employees. Nota-
bly, a business does not avoid the penalty if they opt to cover em-
ployees with plans deemed inferior to those offered in exchanges.
Therefore, regulations dictate that small employers who offer plans
tlllat are “unaffordable” or inadequate are subject to the full pen-
alty.

In its most recent Budget and Economic Outlook, the Congres-
sional Budget Office estimated that the government would collect
$13 billion more than previously estimated from this penalty. This
projected increase indicates that a substantial number of Ameri-
cans will lose whatever employer sponsored coverage that they
have now.

The 2.3 percent excise tax on medical devices will tilt the playing
field against smaller companies who are less able than larger com-
panies to absorb lost revenue because of higher fixed costs and
smaller cash reserves. Since about 90 percent of medical device
companies in the U.S. are small to medium-sized firms, the tax will
lower employment and raise prices in one of the few manufacturing
industries where the U.S. remains dominant. Beyond concerns
about the business impact, it is simply an ill-conceived tax policy.
Removing $20 billion from this industry merely undercuts employ-
ment and increases cost throughout the healthcare sector.

New legislative and regulatory requirements may lead to further
decline in the number of practicing independent doctors. Physicians
who own their own practices or are members of small groups are
already feeling pressure to consolidate or become employees of larg-
er hospitals and healthcare systems. Doctors in private practice
have declined from 59 percent of all physicians in 2000 to 39 per-
cent in 2012. Legislative and regulatory changes, including Medi-
care payment reductions, Accountable Care Organization incen-
tives, and a host of health IT, quality, and reporting requirements
mean that it is easier to be part of a large system than a solo prac-
titioner. Although consolidation may have benefits and drawbacks
in some areas, it has a decidedly negative impact on physicians
who run small businesses or do not have the opportunity to consoli-
date themselves.

The administration often points to the way in which ACA helps
small businesses afford health insurance for their employees. To
address the existing difficulty, small businesses that provide cov-
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erage can qualify for a healthcare tax credit. Unfortunately, due to
its structure, very few companies actually qualify for the credit,
and the Government Accountability Office has stated that the com-
plicated application process and numerous exceptions meant that
fewer have claimed the credit than expected.

In 2011, 170,300 claimed some amount of the credit, even though
anywhere from 1.4 to 4 million businesses were eligible. Those eli-
gible for the full credit must have fewer than 10 FTEs, and an av-
erage wage of $25,000 or less. The expected cost of this credit for
2010 was $2 billion, and it amounted to a mere one-quarter of this
projection. ACA exceeds expected cost projections in terms of ex-
panded bureaucracy and public entitlement programs, but comes in
dramatically under budget on a tax credit that might have assisted
small businesses trying to provide affordable coverage.

Given the additional burdens facing small businesses when they
cross the threshold from 49 to 50 employees, ACA’s new regula-
tions actually encourage small businesses to pay small. Uncer-
tainty about the law’s impact on future insurance premium costs,
payroll, prices, and profit margins can only continue to adversely
affect the ability of a typical small business to grow.

Health and Insurance Costs Continue to Rise

There are legitimate policy debates over the implementation of
ACA and its role in health care costs. However, there is no dispute
that its regulations will increase premiums. For example, the final
ACA rule on “Preexisting Condition Exclusions” noted that if HHS
failed to grant a waiver, “[T]he restricted annual limit provisions
of these interim final regulations would result in a significant de-
crease in access to benefits or a significant premium increase.”

Likewise, the proposed “Notice of Benefit and Payment Param-
eters for 2014,” which is currently in final form at the White
House, acknowledged it too could lead to premium price hikes.
“There are administrative costs to States to set up and administer
these programs. For issuers not receiving payments, any contribu-
tion is an additional cost, which an issuer could pass on to bene-
ficiaries through premium increases.” Critics of the law warned
this could happen during passage, it has come to pass, and new re-
search is putting a price tag on these increases.

In a paper released last month, I examined possible health care
premium spikes in 2014. We surveyed large health insurers that
cover a majority of patients in the U.S. The survey areas included
Atlanta, GA, Austin, TX, Chicago, IL, Phoenix, AZ, and Milwaukee,
WI. The results are sobering: young and healthier individuals, in-
cluding small employers, can expect a 169 percent premium in-
crease, averaged across the five cities. Consumers in Milwaukee
could experience the greatest sticker shock, with a 190 percent in-
crease in 2014.

These younger, healthier individuals are likely to subsidize the
cost of insurance for older patients, but not by nearly enough to
avoid an overall increase. Older and less healthy individuals could
enjoy a 22 percent premium decrease. It is no surprise that ACA
will have an enormous impact on the structure and pricing of in-
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surance. However, a 169 percent premium increase begs the atten-
tion of policymakers to address the structural flaws in the legisla-

tion.
Thank you for the chance to appear. I look forward to answering
your questions.
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Chairman Graves, Ranking Member Velazquez, and members of
the Small Business Committee, thank you for inviting me to testify
on how new federal definitions in the healthcare law will impact
the marginal costs of small businesses and the livelihood of their
employees.

I am Bill Gouldin and I have been the President of Strange’s Flo-
rists, Greenhouses, and Garden Centers since 1978. I came to the
business in 1971 and going to college and serving in the U.S. Army.
My father owned the business and managed it on a part-time basis
because he worked as a full-time railroad engineer. Two of my
brothers joined me in the business after graduating from high
school and college. My wife works for the business as our Human
Resources Manager. My son joined the business as Treasurer after
graduating from college and serving in the U.S. Army. My daugh-
ter joined the business as Assistant Manager of Human Resources
after graduating from college.

We currently have four retail florists, a wholesale greenhouse
range, and two retail garden centers in the Richmond, Virginia
metropolitan area. Due to the highly seasonal nature of our busi-
ness, virtually all of our employees are paid by the hour. Our staff
size ranges from a low of approximately 120 employees to a high
of over 150 employees depending on the season. We have a blend
of full-time, part-time and seasonal personnel that is constantly
changing. In addition to our employees, we pay a large number of
contract drivers to assist our delivery staff around the holidays.

We provide health insurance for our full-time employees who
work over 37.5 hours per week. We have been paying 100% of the
health insurance premium of all of our full-time employees that de-
sire it my entire career. My father stated the policy of paying for
health benefits before me. In 1983, we started our 401(k) plan for
all full-time employees as a tool to help our employees to save for
their retirement and learn about return on investments. In the
early years, I felt providing health insurance was the proper thing
to do because our employees should have coverage and we could
provide it for less than it would cost them individually. As I stud-
ied the results over the years, I realized that all third party pay-
ment systems are inherently inefficient because the beneficiary has
little knowledge, or concern in some cases, for the total costs; and
providers have very few tools to control costs.

Before Passage - Employer Confusion

By necessity, not by choice, I have become well-aware with our
business’ rising cost of providing health insurance. Our premium
costs have risen from .44% of sales in 1968 to nearly 2% of sales
in 2012 and will continue to increase. Of course, the constant rise
in health insurance costs is regressively suppressing wages.

When the healthcare debate was raging I realized there was
plenty of rhetoric by proponents selling all of the benefits and oppo-
nents displaying all of the negatives, but no one seemed to have
any detailed information. Simple mathematics seemed to be lost in
the debate. I asked questions of all of our professional organiza-
tions in which we have memberships, my Congressman, and Sen-
ator, but could not get all of my questions answered. When people
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ask me what caused the financial crisis, my answer is the lack of
due diligence and integrity by all of us. The same is true of our
healthcare system and the Patient Protection and Affordable Care
Act.

That caused me to take the time to begin scanning the House
and Senate bills as they were progressing. I looked for the words
employee and employer. I printed every page I could find that ref-
erenced the employer and employee and quickly realized there
were parts that were very vague and confusing, many parts that
were not workable, and some that were very dangerous to employ-
ees and their employers. I realized that this law would be the most
disruptive instrument to the American workplace in my lifetime
and no one seemed to know, or care, right in the middle of the
worst recession/depression since the Great Depression.

After Passage - Disruptive and Problematic Definitions

The IRS has the undesirable task of weeding through the details
of implementation and is making some progress but they have a
long way to go. Their most complete list of interpretations and
opinions was released on December 28, 2012. That was very late
in the game but helped answer some of my outstanding questions.
Unfortunately, some provisions were designed in a way that cannot
be fixed by regulations. For example, a new federal employment
definition that must interact with an affordability test will harm
employees by reducing hours and wages. One of the most dan-
gerous parts in the law is the statutory definition of full-time em-
ployment as 30 hours per week, or 130 hours per month. The IRS
cannot correct that definition. Congress will have to amend the
law. The use of 30 hours to define full-time employment is the low-
est in the world and far below the common practice of 37.5 to 40
hours used by most public and private employers. This is already
causing rescheduling of employees where public and private em-
ployers have read the law. The federal government has never at-
tempted to define full-time employment until now.

If the 30 hour definition is not amended several consequences
will occur. Every employer will be forced to define part-time em-
ployment as something below 30 hours per week and most will use
between 20 and 27.5 hours per week. There are millions of people
who currently work between 30 and 36 hours per week because
that works for their lifestyle and income needs. Many are students
trying to pay for their education or the second wage earner in the
household. These people will be required to lose needed hours of
work and income. Millions will be forced to work two part-time
jobs. The fixed cost of health insurance premiums is already so
high that many employers will pay the penalty of “time and a half”
because it is less than the marginal cost of health insurance per
hour for an additional employee. Using the 30 hour definition be-
gins to override the “time and a half” penalty. The new full-time
employee definition will cause a hole in employment between 27.5
and 37.5 hours per week and very few people will be allowed to
work between those hours.

In 2009, I created the attached tables to show the hourly costs
of health insurance based on the Kaiser Family Foundation Survey.
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I used their average national premiums from 2009 and have up-
dated the table annually to 2012. I have projected premium modest
increases of only 5% per annum for 2013 and 2014. The tables
show the marginal cost of offering health insurance at $119.05 per
hour for an employee allowed to work 30 hours per week when the
employer pays 100% of the premium or $95.24 if the employer pays
80% of the premium. These staggering marginal costs are evidence
of the problematic employment wedge that has been created. This
is a very regressive law. The cost of health insurance is of less con-
cern as you move up the income scale and is why so many highly
paid people have overlooked this problem. The 9.5% affordability
test will only aggravate the problem, and drive wage rates at
healthcare inflation rates (as shown on the right side of the tables).

My concern is that no one seems to care about the millions of em-
ployees that will lose their job in whole or in part because of this
provision. Most employers have no pricing power to pass these in-
creased costs on to the consumers so they have no options but to
reduce hours or personnel. If a business tries to absorb these costs
and goes out of business, everybody loses their jobs.

Now is the Time for a Simple Fix

The employer confusion caused by this law is already causing
higher unemployment and I believe that real unemployment (U-6
table) will rise if a change is not made. I have tried to be aware
of the language in the law, but very few businesses have any idea
of what is in this law. But they are beginning to find out.

Amend the definition of full-time employee to read 37.5 hours per
week and begin to improve the U-6 unemployment table today in-
stead of watching it rise above 14.5%. This will increase employ-
ment better than any scheme that I have heard and cost the gov-
ernment a dime. Our every effort should to move people from un-
employment (expense column) to working taxpayers (revenue col-
umn).

We all know that tax rates have been raised and some deduc-
tions will probably be changed. Many spending programs have been
overpromised and must be cut or altered. The least painful way out
of this mess is economic growth and maximum employment. We
need a paradigm change to genuine respect for those private busi-
nesses that create jobs in this country and for those who go to work
every day. It is very important to enhance, and not prevent, the op-
portunity of young people to work part-time to gain the experience
of working. This basic training may lead to a full-time job upon fin-
ishing high school or college. Most businesses have entry level
training in-house and some have tuition assistance for full-time
employees who want more formal training or college. There are
many benefits to working beyond wages and health insurance. The
middle class flourished in the period between 1945 and 1970 and
has been struggling since. The belief that there will always be an
endless supply of businesses that want to hire Americans should
have ended then because the rest of the world had recovered from
WWII and became stronger competitors. Every law, and tax, needs
to be reviewed to see if it will enhance private sector job creation
or thwart it. The most patriotic thing any of us can do today is cre-
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ate a job or go get a job. Our Generals are smart enough to under-
stand that the greatest risk to our country’s safety is a weakened
private sector that cannot keep pace with our growing government.

Thank you for your time. I look forward to answering any ques-
tions.
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Chairman Graves, Ranking Member Velazquez, and members of
the committee,

Thank you for the invitation to testify before your committee on
the topic of how the implementation of the Affordable Care Act is
impacting small businesses. I appreciate the opportunity to share
my experiences on these issues from the perspective of a small
business.

My name is Louisa McQueeney. I am the General Manager and
CFO of Palm Beach Groves, a small business in Lantana, Florida
that ships citrus gift baskets across the United States and Canada.
Last year we employed 6 year round employees and 3 seasonal
workers.

I've worked at Palm Beach Groves for the last 13 years. Part of
my job as CFO is managing health care benefits. Over the last dec-
ade, I have grown quite accustomed to yearly double digit rate in-
creases—12 percent, 22 percent, one year even as high as 32 per-
cent. Renewal season has always been a nerve-wracking time, as
the decision to continue providing health coverage—and how much
of the cost to shift onto employees—has gotten harder each year.

Each year, I shop around to different insurance companies, but
none can quote better rates. In fact, they can actually charge an
additional 15% if they find one pre-existing condition from any per-
son covered on the plan. All of us have pre-existing conditions.

For almost a decade, our staff hasn’t seen any raises, because the
raise would go to yet another increase in health insurance pre-
miums.

How early provisions of the Affordable Care Act are help-
ing small businesses

Then, the first components of the Affordable Care Act, or
“Obamacare” were implemented.

In November of 2011, our insurance agent called with our re-
newal. Instead of the nightmare news I'd come to expect, I found
out our premiums for the next year would increase by a grand total
of 0.2 percent. Zero point two. Flat.

I was floored. This flan renewal came with exactly the same
plan—no dumbing down the coverage, no increase in our
deductibles, everything was the same.

Then, at tax time, we applied for the small business health care
tax credit. That credit cut our total health care costs by about 10
percent—$7,400—for 2011. We will receive this tax credit again for
2012.

Last summer, we also received a $1,582 rebate check in the mail
from our insurance company. Our health insurer had not met the
“80/20” rule which requires insurers to spend at least 80 percent
of premiums on medical care. So, they were forced to pay us back
the difference.

This had never happened before. I was so excited, I thought
about framing the check.
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During this time, my family was also personally benefiting from
the ability to keep our adult daughter on our health insurance plan
until age 26, and I also benefited from free preventive care with an
annual well-visit.

Counting it all up—the stable rate, the tax credit, the rebate
check—last year our business saw our health insurance costs cut
about 12 percent, with better coverage and greater peace of mind,
thanks to the Affordable Care Act.

Continuing challenges for small businesses

Since the law will not be fully implemented until 2014, we still
face challenges. All of our employees are in their 50s and 60s.
We'’re not spring chickens and we’ve got more than a few pre-exist-
ing conditions among us.

Last year, we had four major health care events in our very
small group. One of our long time employees died after battling
lung cancer. The spouse of another was diagnosed with a serious
heart condition. Thank God he was covered under our insurance,
because it literally saved his life. He was given a wearable
defibrillator sudden cardiac arrest protection device, which he
would not have been able to afford had he not been covered. The
device actually shocked his heart numerous times keeping him
alive until the ambulance arrived. He ended up with a defibrillator/
pacemaker implant at a billed cost of over $172,000. Who can af-
ford any of this?

Under Florida law, health insurers are allowed to impose addi-
tional rate-hikes to small businesses based on the health status
and claims experience of the group. When you only have a few em-
ployees to begin with, just one battle with cancer can dramatically
affect your rates. Add a heart condition diagnosis, a spouse with
Alzheimer’s, and a generally aging workforce, and we found our-
selves facing another double-digit rate-hike at our latest renewal.

That’s why I'm looking forward to the health care law being fully
implemented. Starting next year, the Affordable Care act prohibits
insurers from hitting small businesses with an extra rate-hike
based on the health status or claims experience of their small
group. Premiums will be allowed reasonable variation for age and
smoking status, but gone will be the day when, if one of your em-
ployees gets cancer, you can count on your rates skyrocketing when
you need health care the most. Gone will be the days when you can
be discriminated against based on gender. Frankly, it can’t come
soon enough.

I am pleased that Governor Rick Scott has joined with other Re-
publican Governors in dropping fervent opposition to the law, and
taking the practical approach of supporting expanding Medicaid for
more Floridians. Nevertheless, this issue is still being hotly de-
bated in our state legislature. I hope they do the right thing, be-
cause accepting the Medicaid expansion would help take some pres-
sure off our hospitals and reduce the cost-shifting of uncompen-
sated care costs onto private payers, including businesses like ours.
We also need to move forward with implementing health insurance
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exchanges where small businesses can compare coverage options
apples-to-apples and get the best deal at the best price.

Too many small business owners still don’t know that they could
benefit from the health care tax credit, a dollar for dollar reduction
in your tax bill. According to the GAO, between 1.4 and 4 million
small businesses qualified for the tax credit and only about 170,000
took advantage of it. I found out about the credit through a small
business IRS mailing. But many business organizations, like the
US Chamber of Commerce, opposed the law for ideological reasons.
I feel they have been remiss in educating their members about how
they might benefit and lower their health care costs.

Maybe it’s true that too few small businesses qualify for the tax
credit. So, one opportunity to move forward that I would encourage
you to support is expanding eligibility for the credit. While some
elected officials are using the news of lower than expected utiliza-
tion as an excuse to criticize the credit and the Affordable Care Act
as a whole, that’s not helpful to small businesses. If you want to
help us, it would make more sense to ask the question, “What can
we do to make this credit work for more of our small businesses?”

Currently the credit is limited to businesses with fewer than 25
FTEs and average wages under $50,000. Why not expand the FTE
requirement to 50, 75, or even 100 employees, and increase the sal-
ary cap? You have an opportunity to help so many more small busi-
nesses throughout the country with the small business health care
tax credit. I hope you will take it.

I want to say something briefly about employer responsibility.
We've always considered it our responsibility to provide health cov-
erage to our employees. If we don’t provide it, where are they sup-
posed to get it... and who will pay the bill? At a small business,
our employees are like family. How could I look one of my employ-
ees in the eye while they battle cancer and say, “We’re going to
drop your coverage” when I know it will financially devastate their
family?

In the last year, I've read a lot in the news about some compa-
nies that are larger than ours taking extraordinary steps to avoid
their responsibility under the law.

The employer responsibility provision of the Affordable Care Act
is often presented as a problem for small businesses. I believe the
opposite is true. As a business who is doing the right thing and of-
fering health coverage to our workers, the real problem for us is
that when other businesses who are much larger than us don’t
offer health care, we're forced to subsidize their health care costs.
The shifting of uncompensated health care costs to businesses that
pay for health insurance represents a “hidden tax” in our pre-
miums that costs our small business hundreds of dollars per em-
ployee per year. How is that fair?

Opponents of the health care law argue that the employer re-
sponsibility requirement will hurt job creation. I disagree. More
than 9 out of 10 businesses with 50 or more employees already
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offer health coverage.! Think about it this way: for every business
around the 50 FTE threshold that doesn’t already offer coverage,
there are many more that do. Right now, the barrier to job creation
for the businesses that do offer health care—like mine—is the fact
that we’re paying more to subsidize the ones that don’t. The only
way to fix this is through a system of shared responsibility where
all businesses above the threshold pitch in and nobody takes a free
ride at the expense of the rest of us.

Alternatives: Will they work?

Opponents of the law say they want to replace it with something
else. But there are no real alternatives being offered.

“Let health insurance companies sell across state lines.” Sounds
nice in theory, but will my cheap South Dakota health insurance
pay the more expensive care in South Florida? Who will regulate
that? To date I have heard no real answers to these questions. We
need the protection of law to ensure that insurance is worth more
than the paper it’s written on. Besides, our neighbors in Georgia
tried this. Not a single out-of-state insurance company tried to
enter the market there, so it does not seem like a feasible alter-
native.2

Or “Health Savings Accounts” which are supposed to make us
“better,” “more informed,” and “more responsible” consumers of
healthcare. Try calling a doctor’s office and ask for the price of a
biopsy, or a fix for a broken leg or by-pass surgery. The first an-
swer you get is “I don’t know” and if you persist you get “depends
on your insurance,” but you will not get a price. Good luck with
that one.

We have experience with HSAs.

A few years ago, our company was forced into a high deductible
HSA plan by our insurer. This meant paying the first $5,000 of
healthcare costs out-of-pocket and then paying a high monthly pre-
mium on top of that before the health insurance company paid a
dime.

That’s not a solution. It feels a lot like paying to be uninsured,
and it’s just more of the same old squeeze.

Conclusion

The Affordable Care Act is working for our business and is tak-
ing important steps forward to address the barriers to lower health
care costs and bring affordable, good quality health coverage within
reach for many small businesses. Businesses like ours are already
seeing the benefits as early provisions of the law take effect. We
have even more to look forward to with the establishment of the
state health insurance exchanges, the prohibition on rating due to
health status, and other provisions that are still on their way.

1 Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality, Center for Financing, Access and Cost Trends,
2010 Medical Expenditure Panel Survey—Insurance Component; Table 1.A.2(2010) Percent of
private-sector establishments that offer health insurance by firm size and selected characteris-
tics: United States, 2010, http://meps.ahrq.gov/mepsweb/data stats/summ tables/insr/national/
series 1/2010/tia2.htm

2No out-of-state insurers offer plans in Georgia,” Atlanta Journal-Constitution, April 30, 2012,
http://www.ajc.com/news/no-out-of-state-1428329.html
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We need to keep building on the foundation of the Affordable
Care Act, not tear it down. Small businesses across the country
can’t afford to go back to the broken health care marketplace we
faced before reform. We need to keep moving forward.

By taking full advantage of the opportunities created by the Af-
fordable Care Act, we can break down the barriers to lower health
care costs and finally level the playing field for small businesses.
Then small businesses like ours will be able to focus our full atten-
tion on building our businesses, creating jobs, and strengthening
our local economies. Thank you.
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Chairman Graves and members of the committee, my name is
Kevin Tindall. My wife and I own Tindall and Ranson Plumbing
and Heating located in Princeton, New Jersey. I also serve as an
officer and member of the Board of Directors of the Plumbing-Heat-
ing-Cooling Contractors—National Association located in Falls
Church, Virginia. As the owner of a small business and on behalf
of the leadership and members of the Plumbing-Heating-Cooling
Contractors—National Association, thank you for the opportunity
to appear before the Committee to discuss health care reform. I re-
alize the statutory title of the act is known as “The Patient Protec-
tion and Affordable Care Act” however, in the small business
world, we merely refer to it as health care reform. I am also aware
of the many challenging issues you face as national leaders, and I
applaud your efforts today to hold this hearing on one of the most
important issues facing the citizens of our nation.

Tindall & Ranson provides plumbing, heating, and cooling serv-
ices. We were established 20 years ago with only two stockholders
and four employees. We now have 20 full-time employees ranging
from highly qualified technicians to administrative and manage-
ment professionals. I am proud to say that we also provide quality
health care insurance to all of those working at Tindall and
Ranson. We measure success by providing quality service to our cli-
ents and quality careers for our employees so that they can provide
for their families. We don’t measure success by evaluating our prof-
it margin.

For the purposes of my appearance here today, I would like to
ask that you not look at me as the owner of a plumbing and heat-
ing company. I would ask that you instead look at me as a small
business job creator—not unlike millions of other small business
job creators. As such, I would further ask that you receive my testi-
mony as someone who has worked to help create, build and im-
prove the quality of life for those living in my community as well
as providing the foundation of a quality career for those who work
in my company—my partners.

I am not an expert in health care or health care reform. I am
however, the person who must live with the very business decisions
and policies Congress establishes which in many cases, either in-
creases or inhibits my ability to create jobs. For that, I am an ex-
pert. I have yet to understand how we as a nation can continue to
state that we need to create more jobs, yet challenge, threaten, or
even ignore the very mechanisms for job creation.

I would like to touch on a few very important small business dy-
namics that are the result of what we are experiencing in the small
business world as they relate to health care. I would also like to
briefly discuss what we see as the future. I want to again empha-
size that my views are that of someone who is responsible for 20
individuals and their families.

e Tax Credits for Small Business

When Congress debated, considered, then passed the health
care reform package, I heard and read much about tax credit
incentives for small business. On the surface, this was a posi-
tive. Something that the business community viewed as a way
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to partner with the reform. I have spent countless hours view-
ing health care reform webinars, reviewing materials and
speaking with other small business owners with the intent of
calculating any benefits of the reform in terms of tax credits.
I am often asked why I don’t take advantage of the small busi-
ness tax credit incentives. I am proud to say that I don’t qual-
ify—the average salary for those who work at my company ex-
ceeds the $50,000 threshold, thereby disqualifying me. Tax
credits as an incentive are meaningless unless you happen to
fall within a very limited universe as defined by the reform.
This is also the reason why many small businesses have not
taken advantage of the credits—they can’t.

¢ Rising Insurance Premium Costs

One of the most talked about issues I heard during the
health care reform debate was that rising insurance premiums
need to be brought under control. I couldn’t agree more. But
in my experience, that’s the difference between policy and the
real world. For my company, the insurance renewal cost for
2011 experienced an increase of 9.7%, followed by an increase
of 9.3% for 2012. Let me repeat, an increase of 9.7% in 2011
and an increase of 9.3% in 2012! I would challenge anyone who
has experienced a 9.3% to 9.7% increase in anything in their
professional or personal life who can simply absorb the excess
cost and not have to take action. Because I will always view
those who work at my company as partners, and because I will
always provide my partners and their families with quality
health care insurance, this increase simply means that the cost
of doing business has increased. Eliminating health care insur-
ance or perhaps turning to lower quality health care insurance
in order to save money, is not an option. The continued rise in
the cost of providing health care insurance absolutely stifles
my ability to create, provide and sustain jobs. Again Mr. Chair-
man and members of the Committee, I have yet to understand
how we as a nation can continue to state that we need to cre-
ate more jobs, yet challenge, threaten, or even ignore the very
mechanisms for job creation.

¢ Educational Materials

As I mentioned, I serve as an officer of the Plumbing-Heat-
ing-Cooling Contractors—National Association. I have access to
health care reform information webinars, materials, and anal-
ysis, and I take advantage of all of these tools. I raise this
point for two reasons.

1. With my years as a member of the association and in
my position as an officer with the association, combined
with my efforts and time to understand the complexities of
the reform, I still have many questions and concerns.

2. I raise the question—what about the other small busi-
nesses across the country who don’t belong to an associa-
tion—state or national. We assume these small businesses
know about the reform and understand its timetable. But
I would submit, they may not have the resources, time,
ability, or know-how to reach out to find out more.
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As I watch and listen to the news each evening, I often hear the
term “job creation.” I very much agree that one of the nation’s top
priorities should be creation. But job creation is not a concept, it
begins in communities like mine and with people like me.

In closing, Mr. Chairman, I want to thank you and the members
of the Committee for this opportunity. The Plumbing-Heating-Cool-
ing Contractors—National Association appreciates the thoughtful
approach of this Committee and looks forward to working with you.
I am more than happy to answer any questions or provide any in-
formation today or in the future you or the committee may request.
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The Honorable Sam Graves The Honorable Nydia M. Veldzquez
Chairman Ranking Member

House Committee on Small Business House Committee on Small Business
2361 Rayburn House Office Building B-343C Rayburn House Office Building
Washington, DC 20515 Washington, DC 20515

Dear Chairman Graves and Ranking Member Veldzquez:

On behalf of Associated Builders and Contractors (ABC), a national association of 72 chapters
representing 22,000 merit shop construction and construction-related firms, 1 am writing in regard to
today’s full committee hearing on the “Health Care Law: Implementation and Small Businesses.”

Providing quality health care benefits is a top priority for ABC and its member companies. Throughout
the health care reform debate, ABC advocated for policies that reduce the cost of health care for
employers and their employees. ABC called on Congress to advance common-sense proposals that
would address the skyrocketing costs of health insurance, especially for employer-sponsored plans and
the rapidly rising number of uninsured Americans. ABC believes true reform should provide greater
choice and affordability and allow private insurers to compete for business.

Unfortunately, the Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act (PPACA) fails to lower costs and
imposes new taxes, as well as costly and burdensome federal government mandates on businesses.
Beginning in 2014, PPACA mandates that employers with 50 or more full-time equivalent employees
offer a certain level of coverage or be subject to taxes. The increased costs related to this onerous
mandate are of significant concern to ABC members.

By forcing employers to offer government-prescribed health insurance, ABC members will no longer
have the choice or flexibility to structure health care coverage options that meet the needs of their
fluctuating workforce. The resulting increased costs will jeopardize the ability of ABC member
companies to maintain affordable coverage options for their employees and force some to drop coverage
all together. Funds that employers could use to hire and retain workers or expand their businesses will
instead go toward paying the burdensome employer mandate tax.

ABC also is concerned about the regulations implementing the employer mandate, which are complex,
confusing and unclear. They create an environment of uncertainty in our industry that makes it difficult
for firms to adequately plan for the future—ultimately stifling job creation.
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ABC supports the American Job Protection Act (H.R. 903), introduced by Rep. Charles Boustany,
which would repeal the employer mandate provision in PPACA and protect existing jobs, remove some
of the uncertainty facing employers and help America’s job creators get back to work.

We appreciate your attention to this important matter and look forward to working with you to pass the
American Job Protection Act.

Sincerely,

Kristen Swearingen
Sr. Director, Legislative Affairs
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The Honorable Olympia J. Snowe
Ranking Member
Committee on Small Business and Entrepreneurship

United States Senate

The Honorable Sam Graves
Chairman

Committee on Small Business

United States House of Representatives

Many small employers do not offer health insurang heir employees. This is

hour) offered health insurane ees in 2010, while 90 percent of

employers with 100 to es who earn low wages did.

To provide an incentive for small employers to provide health insurance, and to make
insurance more affordable’ Congress included the Small Employer Health Insurance
Tax Credit (referred to in this report as the credjt) in the Patient Protection and
Affordable Care Act (PPACA), enacted in March 2010 and gave the Internal Revenue
Service (IRS) a role in managing the tax credit.? The credit is available for tax years

beginning after December 31, 2009 to certain employers with low wage employees—

""The Medical Expenditure Panel Survey (MEPS) is a set of large-scale surveys. MEPS is administered by the
Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality in the Department of Health and Human Services (HHS). The 2010
Insurance Component survey had a response rate of about 83 percent for private establishments, and 38,409
respondents, who include for profit, and nonprofit employers; government units are excluded from our statistics.

2 pub. L. No. 111-148, § 1421, 124 Stat. 119 (Mar. 23, 2010), as amended by the Health Care and Education
Reconciliation Act of 2010, Pub. L. No. 111-152, 124 Stat. 1029 (Mar. 30, 2010) (codified at 26 U.S.C. § 45R).
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smali business and tax exempt entities—who pay at least half of their employee’s health
insurance premiums. The Congressional Budget Office (CBO) and the Joint Committee
on Taxation (JCT) jointly estimated that the credit would cost $2 billion in fiscal year
2010, and $40 billion from fiscal years 2010 to 2019.°

You asked us to review the implementation of the credit. Specifically, we examined:

« to what extent the credit is being claimed; what factors, if any, limit employer claims,

and how these factors can be addressed;

» how fully IRS is ensuring that the credit is correctly clajgned by eligible employers;

and

= what data are needed to evaluate the effect

iting credit claims, we
presenting employers, tax preparers, and

the factors limiting clai To assess how IRS is ensuring that the tax credit is correctly

claimed by eligible employers we reviewed its compliance plans for the credit and
compared them to practices used successfully for prior tax provisions® and IRS strategic
objectives. We interviewed IRS officials on their compliance efforts and results. To
assess what data would be needed to evaluate the credit, we conducted a literature
review and interviewed interest groups and subject matter specialists from government,
academia, and think tanks. We found the data we used to be sufficiently reliable for the

purposes of our report.

3Congressionat Budget Office, letter to Honorable Nancy Pelosi, Speaker of the U.S. House of Representatives,
(Washington, D.C.: March 18, 2010).

*For example, see GAO, Tax Refunds: Enhanced Prerefund Compliance Checks Could Yield Significant Benefits,
GAO-11-691T, (Washington, D.C.: May 25, 2011).
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We conducted this performance audit from July 2011 through May 2012 in accordance
with generally accepted government auditing standards. Those standards require that
we plan and perform the audit to obtain sufficient, appropriate evidence to provide a
reasonable basis for our findings and conclusions based on our audit objectives. We
believe that the evidence obtained provides a reasonable basis for our findings and
conclusions based on our audit objectives. (See appendix | for our scope and

methodology.)

Background

Small Employer Health insurance Market

alth insurance, compared with

Small, low wage employers do not commonly offerd

farge low wage employers, as shown in figure 4

Figure 1: Percent of Low wage Empio; Health Insurance, 2000

through 2010, by Employer Size
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Note: Figure includes for-profit and nonprofit entities, but not government entities. A low-wage employer is defined as having more
than half of the employees earn a low wage ($11.50 per hour, which is an annual salary of, at most, about $23,920).
A combination of factors explains why small, low wage employers tend not to offer

health insurance.’

s For very low wage workers, such as minimum wage workers®, health insurance

may drive up total compensation.

« . While employees pay both income and payroll tax on wages, employees do not
have to pay income or payroll taxes on premiums paid by their employer for
health insurance. For low-wage employees, the income tax exclusion is worth

less relative to cash wages than for higher incom ployees because low wage

employees may be in a lower income {ax brack

employers. 1°

IRS Implementation and:Réaui nts for Calculating and Claiming the Credit

sues, see GAD, Private Health Insurance: Smalf Employers Continue fo
-02-8, (Washington D.C.: Qct. 31, 2001).

*For additional description
Face Challenges in Providin
8 In general, the federal minimum wage is $7.25 per hour. Many states also have minimum wage laws that vary from
state to state.

"See Quantria Strategies /Small Business Administration, Health insurance in the Small Business Market: Availability,
Coverags, and the Effect of Tax incentives, (Cheverly, M.D..: Sept. 2011).

5CBO estimated that for firms with 25 or fewer employees, 26 percent of premiums go toward insurers’ administration
costs, compared with 7 percent for firms with at least 1,000 employees; sea CBO, Key Issues in Analyzing Major
Health Insurance Proposals {Washington D.C.; Dec, 2008).

°Risk pooling spreads risk across a group; a larger poo! stabilizes the average insurance costs. Smaller risk pools
raise costs because insurers run the risk of insuring those with relatively high health care needs. As a result, insurers
generally add a premium surcharge to better ensure that they can cover unexpectedly large health care costs.

Phe average deductible per employee enrolled in a single {(employee only) health insurance plan was $1,447 for
2010 for employers with less than 50 employees; for employers with 50 or more employees, it was $917 for 2010,
according to MEPS. A deductible is the amount of expenses that must be paid out of pocket before an insurer will
pay any expenses.
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IRS’s Small Business and Self-Employed (SB/SE) and Tax Exempt and Government
Entities (TEGE) divisions are primarily responsible for implementing the credit. IRS
works with the Department of Health and Human Services (HHS) and the Smail
Business Administration (SBA) on implementation tasks, such as outreach and

communication.

To be eligible, employers must:
s Be asmall business'' or tax exempt employer™ located in or, have trade or
business income in, and pay premiums for employe® health insurance coverage

issued in the United States.

« Employ fewer than 25 full-time-equivalent ‘
{excluding certain employees, such as bu owners and their family

members.)"

e Pay average annual wages of less than.$56.000 per FTE in the tax year. °

s Offer health insurance least 50 percent of the health insurance

premium under a “quéfs rrangen eht,” This means that the employer

uniformly pays a ercent of the cost of premiums for enrolled

"'For purposes of this credit, a business includes those who are corporations in a controlled group of corporations, or
members of an affiliated service group, as well as partnerships, sole proprietorships, cooperatives and trusts. A sole
propriefor is an individual who owns an unincorporated business, but may employ others.

*2 The credit is available to tax exempt employers described in Internat Revenue Code 26 U.S.C. § 501(c) and
exempt from tax under 26 U.S.C. § 501 (a).

*® 7o calculate FTEs, the total hours of service must be determined for all individuals considered employees. There
are a number of methods that can be used to determine the hours worked, but the hours are limited to 2,080 per
employee. The total hours of service is divided by 2,080 {o arrive at the FTE number.

"Other exclusions are seasonal employees, unless they work for the employer on more than 120 days in the tax
year, and ministers who are deemed {o be self-employed. Leased employees are included in FTE caiculations.

' Wages for the employees included in the FTE calculations are included in average wage calculations except for
minister’'s wages which are not subject to Social Security or Medicare tax.
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employees, although IRS did develop relaxed criteria for meeting this

requirement for tax year 2010.®

The President’s fiscal year 2013 budget request contains a proposal for expanding the
credit’s eligibility criteria to include employers with 50 or fewer FTEs, and removing the
uniform contribution requirement.

Limits on the Credit Amount
The amount of the credit that employers can claim depends on several factors. Through
2013, small businesses can receive up to 35 percent and tax exempt entities can

receive up to 25 percent of their payments for employe h insurance premiums;

Figure 2: Phase out
Contributions to Pr

'8 IRS offered a transition rule on the “qualifying arrangement” criteria for tax year 2010 and for satisfying the
uniformity requirement. IRS Notice 2010-44.
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Average wage

Firmsize  Up to $25,000 $30,000 $35,000 $40,000 $45,000
Upto 10 3% 28% 1% 4% %
1 2% 26% Gew 12% 5%
12 30% “2a% 16% T e

13 Tom% 21% 14% %

14 26% 9% 12% 5%
15 23% 16% 9% 2%
% 21% 14% %

. 2 o —

18 16% %

19 4% 7%
%
21 2%

Source: Congressional Research Service, Sufi of the Small Business Health Insurance Tax
Credit Under PPACA (P.L. 111-148), (Washingt April 5, 2010).

Table note: While the first row says S included in the first row. While the first

Further, the amount of the ¢
more than the average premi etermined by HHS for the small group market in the
state in which the egiployer offers insurance. The credit percentage is multiplied by the
allowable premium {o galculate the dollar amount of credit claimed. For example, in
Alabama, the state averag mium is $4,441 for a single employee. if an employer

claiming the credit in Alabama paid $5,000 for a single employee’s health premium, the
credit would be calculated using the state average premium of $4,441 rather than the

actual premium paid. Appendix Il shows the average premiums by state.

The proposal in the President’s Budget suggests beginning the phase-out at 21 FTEs,
rather than 11, as well as providing for a more gradual combined phase-out for the
credit percentages and removing the state market limits.
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Process for Claiming the Credit

Employers are to caiculate the credit amount on IRS Form 8941, "Credit for Small
Employer Health Insurance Premiums.” Small businesses are to claim the credit as part
of the general business tax credit (on Form 3800), and use it to offset actual tax liability.
If they do not have a federal tax liability, they cannot receive the credit as a refund but
may carry the credit forward or back to offset tax liabilities for other years.!” Credit
amounts claimed by partnerships and S-corporations are to be passed through to their
pariners and shareholders, respectively'® who may claim their portion of the credit on
their individual income tax return.'® Tax exempt entities are to claim the credit on Form

990-T, “Exempt Organization Business Income Tax Return,” and receive the credit as a

refund even though the employer has no taxable incor
Employers who claim the credit can also deduet h insurance expenses on their
income tax return but must subtract the amount ofthe credit from the deduction.
Employers can claim the credit for up to he initial four years from 2010

i fler 2013 if they buy insurance through

art of insurance exchanges to be

Actual Credit Claims were ch Lower than Initial Rough Eligibility Estimates

" The unused credit for small businesses may be carried back 1 year or forward up to 20 years. Credits cannot be
carried back to a year prior to the effective date of the credit; any unused credit amounts for 2010 can only be carried
forward. See IRS Notice 2010-44.

"Owners of S-corporations are referred to as shareholders. S-corporations are corporations that “pass through”
gains and losses to shareholders’ individual tax returns without generally paying taxes at the entity level. Similarly,
partners receive pass through income and losses from a partnership.

Beor partners and shareholders, the credit is to be entered on the Schedule K-1 to be filed with an income tax return.
2 ppACA requires the establishment of exchanges in each state by January 1, 2014, which are to help eligible

individuals and small employers compare and select insurance coverage amongst paricipating health plans. See
Pub. L. No. 111-148, § 1311(b), 124 Stat. 173 (Mar. 23, 2010).
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Fewer small employers claimed the credit for tax year 2010 than were thought to be
eligible based on rough estimates of eligible employers made by government agencies
and small business advocacy groups. IRS data, adjusted for double counting, show
170,337 small employers made claims for the credit in 2010%". (See appendix 111 for
adjustments to avoid double counting of the claims filed with IRS.) The average credit
amount claimed was $2,865. Limited information is available on the distribution of claim
amounts for business entities because IRS focuses its data collection on the taxpayers
filing credit claims, who may be partners or shareholders claiming their portion of the
business entity’s credit. Appendix lli provides additional detail.

Estimates made by government agencies and small by advocacy groups of

acknowledging the data timi entities produced estimates of the number.

he credit. The Council of Economic Advisors

“of employers potential
estimated 4 million.g _estimated 2.6 million.2 Other groups making
estimates included small busin advocacy groups:such as the Small Business

Majority (SBM) and the N: al Federation of independent Businesses (NFIB). Their

estimates were 4 million and 1.4 million, respectively.

2! The number of eligible employees working for employers who claimed the credit was 1,672,397.

2 The Gouncii of Economic Advisors is an agency within the Executive Office of the President, charged with offering
objective advice on the formulation of domestic and international economic policy, and SBA is a government agency
that offers a variety of programs and support services to help small businesses.
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A similar pattern is seen if the dollar value of credits actually claimed is compared to
initial estimates. The dollar value of claims made in 2010 was $488 million compared to
initial cost estimates of $2 billion for 2010 (a CBO and JCT joint estimate).*

Most Small Employer Claims Were Reduced Due to the Phase Out Rules and Some

Were Reduced by the State Average Premiums

Credit Phase Out:
(In reference to the phase out:) “People get excited that they're eligible and then they do the calculations
and it's like the bottom just falls out of | and it's not really there. It's aimost like a wish that they might
get it and then they do the calculations and it's not worth it for them.” ~Health insurance discussion
group participant !

Most of the claims were for less than the full credit per e, Of the 170,337 small

Tver
Employer $25.000
Average
Annual
Wages

325000
origss

WG or fewer Morethan 10

Employer FTEs

2 CBO and JCT recently reduced their original estimates of the future costs of the credit to a cost of $1 bilfion in 2012
and a cost of $21 billion from 2012 to 2021. These estimates were previously $5 billion in 2012 and $41 billion from
2012 to 2021.

* See appendix IV for a graph of claimants with fewer than 10 FTEs and the amount of full credits.

10
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Source: GAO analysis of IRS data on Form 8941,

Note: This table is out of the 170, 337 small employer claims. Percents don't add up due to rounding.

State average premiums also reduced some credit amounts by reducing the amount of
the premium base against which the credit percentage is applied:: This premium base ‘
may be reduced when it exceeds the state average premiums for smalt group plans® as
determined by HHS. i so, small employers are to use the state average amount, which
in essence caps the pfemium amount used to cafcutate their credit. “According toIRS
data; this cap reduced the credit for around 30 percent of employer claims. - For

d from $7,900 to $3,080

It group average

example, a nonprofit représentative told us her credit drop,
because of the state cap:in her state. (See appendix il

premiums inall states.)

State Averages as Caps of the Credit:

but that's supposed to be the average

“I don't know where that number (the state aver,
;amount they would-qualify for.” ~Health

cost, and that seems pretly low. which is redy
insurance discussion group participant

{ealth Insurance Requirement for the Gredit

Incentive to Start Offering Insurance

credit®® did not offer heaithiisurarice in 2010 and that 67 percent of employers who
could be eligible for the partial credit?” did not offer insurance. - Our discussion groups
and-other interviewees cqnﬁrmed this, with comments and examples of small, low-wage

employers not-offering health insurance to employees.

25 A small group plan is a health coverage plan spensored by small employers for the employees.

% This MEPS statistic is based on employers—both profit and non -profit-- with under 10 employees that pay annuai
wages of $24,000 or fess to over half of their employees.

" This MEPS statistic is based on employers —both profit and non -profit-- with 10 to 25 employees that pay wages of

$24,000 or less to over half of their employees. Because the employers eligible for the partial credit can pay up to
$50,000 in wages, this is a less precise estimate than using MEPS to estimate insurance offerings for the full credit.

11
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Small, Low-wage Employers Not Commonly Offering Health Insurance:

“Very few people are going to pay 50 or 100 percent of the health insurance for someone making
$25,000 or less. We just don't have that many clients who even start to qualify.” --Tax preparer
discussion group participant

Furthermore, the small employers do not likely view the credit-as a big enough incentive
to begin offering health insurance and make a credit claim, according to our discussion
group participants and other interviewees. While these small employers could be
eligible for the credit if they began to offer health insurance, small business group
representatives and discussion group participants told us that the credit may not offset
costs enough to justify a new outlay for health insurance premiums. Related to this
concern, the credit being available for six years overall and just two consecutive years

after 2014 further detracts from any potential incentiv employers to start

offering health insurance in order to claim the credit’

Group Complexity Deterred Small Emp ccording to Discussion Groups

Complexity of the Credit: ]
“Any credit that needs a form that r work sheets to build to those 25 lines is too

complicated.” —Tax preparer disc

nd groups we inferviewed found the tax credit to be
ers from claiming it. The complexity arises from the
the number of calculatiol be done, and number of forms or worksheets o be

completed.

A maijor complaint we heard centered on gathering information for and calculating FTES
and the health insurance premiums associated with those FTEs. Eligible employers
reportedly did not have the wages and number of hours worked for each employee
readily available to calculate FTEs. Nor did they have the required health insurance
information for each employee readily available. Exclusions from the definition of
“employee” and other rules make the calculations complex. For example, seasonal

employees are excluded from FTE counts but insurance premiums paid on their behalf

12



80

count toward the employer’s credit. Incorporating the phase out also compilicates the

credit calculation.

Gathering information for the Credit Calculation:

(Small business owners) “Are trying to run their businesses and operate and make a profit, and when
you tell them they need to take 2, 3, 4 hours to gather this information, they just shake their head and
say, 'no, 'm not going to do it’.” ~Tax preparer discussion group participant

In our discussion groups with tax preparers, we heard that small business owners
generally do not want to spend the time or money to gather the necessary information to

calculate the credit, given that the credit will likely be insubsgtgntial. Tax preparers fold

us that they spent a considerable amount of time calculg the credit. Some said it

took them 4 to 5 hours; others said it took them around 8 ho and a few said it took

even longer. ® We did hear from a few particip a small bus

nonprofit representatives—that they did not fin it overly burdensome.

taxpayers determine Whgther they might be eligible for the credit. However, to calculate
the actual dollars that ca laimed, these three steps become 15 calculations based
on 7 worksheets, some of Which request muitiple columns of information. Figure 4
aligns IRS’s “3 Simple Steps,” with the seven worksheets in the instructions for Form
8941, and the lines on Form 8941. (See appendix V for full text for this figure.)

Figure 4: Worksheets Needed to Calculate Various Lines for Claiming the Credit
on Form 8941, in Order to Claim the Credit

Bhe National Society of Accountants conducted a survey in 2008 that estimated the hourly tax preparer fee to be
$122 an hour. Many tax preparers told us they reduced their fees or did not charge for the credit because they
recognized they were going over a learning curve when calculating the credit.

13
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Figure 6: Form 8941 and Credit Calculati on Wor R to IRS’s Three Simple Steps f
In h ple Steps for
hdliibddibndl Determining Potential Eligibifity
Directions:
{”j Rollover the buttons below to reveal the work y to credit totals needed for

lines on IRS Form 8941,

Step 1 Step 2 Step3

Additional calcitations
(ETE and wage phaseout}

OME No. 15453158

- 5941

Dopacment ot tha Treasury
el Revaru Sevvke

"Namess shawn on s

1he tax year (see nnstrucbons) 1t
!mc 2
) it you m!med WOSQ o

* &t aiher smatl amployers, Witiply fine & by 35% (.35 . .

¥ 1ive 2 5 10 or s, ontor 1o arount o fns F. Gthacise, so6 instructions |

#iine 3 is $25,000 or less, enter the amount from ne 8. Otharwise, ses instructions . .

30 Enter the total amount of any state premium subsidies paid and any stite tax Crediy twmab&a m
you for premvums indiuced on e 4 {spe istactions]

1 Subleact B 10 fromiing 4. o orless, amer B . L L L L L

2 Enter the smalier of Bne S oriine 11 . .

13 fne 12 8 zero, Skip Enes 33 and 14 and go ‘l() Hne YS chwwme‘ sﬂler N)e mmm (}V
amployses included on fine I for Whom you pakd prvnius duting the tax yedr for hean
INSUrRAGE COvETage under @ qualifying arangement {see instructions) . .

13 Enter the numbsy of Ritl-Bime ixpivalent em;xcyses you wiuks have entered on im 2 rf you Oﬂly
ipcluded employees included on tine 13 . @

15 Oredit for smal employer heath inswance prémcm*s :‘u;m panm:eshrps momt\ons
cooperativas, estates. and trusts {sed insiructions}

16 Add fines 12 and 15. Coopetatives, estates, and Tusts, go to ling 17, Tax»axemm sl
amployers, skip ines 17 and 18 and qo to tne 19, Partnerships and S corporations, stop here
and report this amount on Schedule K All others, s\v{} here and report this amount on Form
3800, Hine db | B

17 Amount aflocatsd 1o pamms o! !he caopsraﬂvo or bme!mnes 0{ me ss(ade or frust (see
instructions) . .

Source. GAD aralysis.

Print instructions | To print text version of this graphic. go to appendix X
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Note: the full text for these worksheets is provided in appendix V.

Given the effort involved to make a claim and the uncertainty about the credit amounts,
several discussion group participants and employer groups said it would be helpful for
employers to be able to quickly estimate their eligibility for the credit and the amount
they might receive; this would help them to decide whether the credit would be worth
the effort, although this would not reduce the complication of filing out Form 8941
because, to fill out the form, documentation would still be needed. IRS’s Taxpayer
Advocate Service® is developing a calculator for IRS’s Web site to quickly estimate an

employer’s eligibility but this will still require gathering infosmation such as wages, FTEs,

and insurance plans.

The Extent to Which Lack of Awareness is a B More Claims is Unknown

Although IRS Did Significant Qutreach

Many small businesses reported & of the credit. The National Federation
timated that approximately 50 percent of

-as of May 2011, or more than one year after

The extent to which bein vare prevented eligible employers from claiming the
credit for tax year 2010 is nof known. Some discussion group participants raised
concerns about unawareness but they also cited other factors limiting credit claims for
tax year 2010. If 50 percent of small businesses knew about the credit, then the
170,037 claims is a relatively small proportion of those who were knowledgeable. This

indicates that other factors {o credit claims existed. Further, it is hard to interpret the

% The Taxpayer Advocate Service (TAS) is an independent organization within the IRS that helps taxpayers who are
experiencing economic harm; taxpayers who are seeking help in resolving problems with the IRS; and those who
believe an IRS system or procedure is not working as it should.

* NFIB conducted this survey in April and May 2011 of 750 small employers of firms with 50 or fewer people. The

Kaiser Family Foundation conducted its survey from January through May 2011 of 3,184 public and private firms with
3 or more employees and its questions about the credit were directed to employers with 50 or fewer employees.

15
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impact of awareness on claims because these surveys included an unknown number of
small business employers that would not be eligible for the credit regardless of their
awareness. For those employers that were unaware, the surveys did not account for
their accountants or tax preparers who may have known about the credit but did not tell
their clients about it because they did not believe their clients would qualify or because
the credit amount would be very small. In addition, the surveys did not cover tax exempt

entities.

IRS developed a

To raise awareness of the credit, IRS did significant outreac

redit, videos, and a Web

communication and outreach plan, written materials o
site. IRS officials also reached out to interest groups about the.credit and developed a

officials be

list of target audiences and presentation topics. speaking at evenls

in April 2010 to discuss the credit and attende 0 in-person or Web-based
events from April 2010 to February 2012..Discuss
from being a portion of a presentation ¢

focused on the credit with a dedicated dis

f the credit at the events varied

of IRS’s outreach effotls. on awareness with a rigorous methodology; however, based

on ongoing feedback the
believe their efforts have been worthwhile. RS used some feedback from focus groups

of tax preparers and from other sources® to revise its outreach efforts. For example,
IRS modified its outreach from initially focusing on tax preparers and small employers to

had received from interest groups, IRS officials told us they

including insurance brokers in 2012.

Addressing Factors and Expanding Credit Use May Require Substantive Design
Changes

3" Each focus group in 2011 consisted of 12 tax preparers. IRS issued a report on the focus groups on October 14,
2011.

16



84

Given that most claims are for partial credit percentages plus what we heard about the
size of the credit and what is known about awareness,*? it may not be possible to
significantly expand credit use without changing the eligibility rules. As discussed
above, few small businesses are eligible for the credit because most do not offer heaith
insurance. Most claims were for partial credits and many people we talked to view the
credit amount as too small and temporary to justify providing health insurance when
none is provided now. The credit could be redesigned to change the incentives for

using it but that would increase its cost. Options include:

+ Increasing the amount of the full credit, the partial credit, or both;

s Increasing the amount of the credit for some by eliminating state premium averages;

o Offering a flat credit amount per FTE (or number of employees) rather than a

percentage, which again would reduce the precision in targeting the credit.

The data limitations that made it difficult to estimate the number of businesses eligible
for the current credit also make it difficult to estimate the impact of any design changes.

*2 Given the lack of knowledge previously discussed on awareness, it is not clear that increasing outreach would
increase credit usage.

% Using the number of employees instead of FTEs would require an increase in the number of eligible employees in
order to reach the same population of small employers. For example, two part-time employees working 20 hours per
week count as one FTE but as two employees, making the employer appear larger than if FTEs were counted.

17
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IRS is Implementing Several Practices from Prior Compliance Efforts, but
Additional Steps Could be Taken

IRS Incorporated Practices from Prior Credits In Its Compliance Efforts

IRS’s compliance efforts for the credit incorporate practices that have been shown
effective in helping to ensure compliance with other tax provisions, or are consistent
with IRS strategic objectives. Some of those practices were used for the Telephone
Excise Tax Refund (TETR),* and Consolidated Omnibus Budget Reconciliation Act
(COBRA) subsidies for health insurance for the unemployed, according to IRS
officials.®® Specifically, IRS is:

e Using computerized filters to review credit claims o s 8941 for certain errors or

ng to recover funds.*®

+ Considering the di wrden on claimants. RS did not require claimants

because, according o fficials, they will review examination results fo determine

if requiring more documentation would improve its compliance checks.

e Modifying filters, as needed, in response fo observed trends. For example, the filter
that checks an exempt organization’s tax exempt status was tripped by about a

* We found that that IRS’s compliance plans for the TETR were consistent with good management practices in
previous reports, see GAO, Tax Administration: Telephone Excise Tax Refund Requests Are Fewer Than Projected
and Have Had Minimal Impact on IRS Services, GAO-07-695 (Washington D.C., April 11, 2007).

* We tested IRS's internal controls for the COBRA unemployment subsidies in the Recovery Act and found that IRS
was able to identify all 5 fictitious companies used to fraudulently apply for the subsidies. See GAO Proactive Testing
of ARRA Tax Credits for COBRA Premium Payments, GAQ-10-804R (Washington D.C.: June 14, 2010).

¥ See GAO, Tax Gap: Complexity and Taxpayer Compliance, GAO-11-747T (Washington D.C.,: June 28, 2011).
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quarter of claimant organizations. IRS officials said some eligible tax exempt
entities, such as churches, are not required to file for tax exempt status, and thus
tripped the filter.”” To address this, IRS modified the filter to more clearly identify

qualifying tax exempt organizations.

« Completing a risk assessment on compliance issues related to the credit. The
assessment identified risks involving refunds for tax exempt entities, difficulties
verifying employment tax return information for certain employers, and not using
existing Math Error Authority (MEA).

» Considering the costs and benefits of MEA for the credit.?® IRS officials identified
three filters whose type of errors could be addressed MEA. They noted that

Finstead, churches that meet requirements for 26 U.8.C. § 501(c)(3) are automatically considered tax exempt.

*The Internal Revenue Code provides IRS with MEA to assess additional tax or otherwise correct tax return errors in
limited circumstances when an adjustment is the result of mathematicatl or clerical errors on the return. in these
cases, IRS can avoid costly audits and IRS is not required fo provide taxpayers a right to appeal MEA assessments,
although they may file a claim to ask IRS to reduce the assessment if they believe IRS erred. See 26 U.S.C. §
6213(b). Over the years, the Congress has granted MEA for specific purposes and those purposes are listed in
section 6213{g)}2).

These three IRS filters are to check whether credit claims exceed aflowable percentages, whether credit amounts
exceed a certain threshold, or whether certain other forms are filed.

*"We previously recommended that Congress should consider broadening IRS's ability to use MEA, with appropriate

safeguards against misuse, GAQ, Recovery Act: IRS Quickly Implemented Tax Provisions, but Reporting and
Enforcement Improvements Are Needed, GAO-10-348 (Washington D.C. : Feb. 10, 2010).
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The filters do not cover all of the credit’s requirements for several data-related
reasons.*' In one case, data are not included on Form 8941 (e.g. information on
employees included in wage and FTE counts); in other cases, the data are not
transcribed (e.g. line 16 on the credit amount claimed for S-corporations and
partnerships). For other requirements, IRS officials stated that reasonable filters cannot
easily be developed. For example, IRS has not developed a filter to identify claimants
with non-U.S. addresses because of difficulties in matching addresses, according to IRS

officials.

Some Form 8941 filters also face limitations mainly due i problems with data or IRS's

systems.

s saine erroneous claims for the full
owever, according to IRS officials, IRS

employment tax return. However, such employers may be eligible claimants

because those 25 or more employees could equal less than 25 FTEs.

Data on Forms W-2 (employees’ annual Wage and Tax Statement) could provide
additional data for filters once the provision in PPACA is implemented that requires

employers to report the cost—including both employer and employee contributions—

“"We do not describe the filters and the eligibility requirements not being covered in detail due to concerns about
revealing IRS’s compliance approach and criteria.

20
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of certain types of health insurance provided to an employee.* IRS officials said
the data has limited use because, among other things, it would not provide details
for determining whether an employer met the credit's requirements for health
insurance; therefore, they will not pursue using the data at this time. Nevertheless,
the data could be used in a filter to identify claimants who reported no health
insurance contributions on Form W-2, and therefore may not be offering health
insurance. In the absence of other documentation or third-party reporting on health
insurance, using Form W-2 data in a filter could be a cost-effective rough indicator of

whether a claimant is paying employee health insurance premiums, without

increasing taxpayer burden. However, IRS provided {ransition relief to employers

who file fewer than 250 Forms W-2 per year, and is uidance that stated these

selected based on which filters were

3 the taxpayer’s region, to ensure a diverse setf of

SB/SE’s examination instructions address all of the credit’s requirements for small
businesses except for whether claimants with non-U.S. addresses have a business or
trade interest located in the United States and pay premiums for coverage issued in and

regulated by one of the states or the District of Columbia. IRS officials told us that

“2 See 26 U.S.C. § 6051(a)(14),which generally requires employers to report the aggregate cost of employer-
sponsored coverage they provide for the employee on Form W-2.

“3TEGE established two mandatory filters—one on terminated tax exempt status and one on potential terrorist ties—
that if failed, automatically trigger an exam; only 16 forms tripped these two filters.
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challenges with businesses with non-U.S. addresses exists for other tax credits and
therefore they have no instructions for examiners to address it during an examination on
the credit. However, SB/SE’s examination instructions address another general
business tax issue relevant to the credit— whether claimants who carry back the credit
to offset tax liabilities in previous years did so properly. Without a prompt in examination
instructions, IRS examiners may overlook claimants who do not comply with the

address requirements.

Instructions for TEGE examiners cover most of the credit's requirements but, for some
ructions. Like SB/SE,
‘claimants with a non-U.S.

requirements, not in the same level of detail as SB/SE’s

ig if an employer’s
teria, but they provide less

idance instructs examiners to

employees are includg I 1s. According to IRS officials, the TEGE examiners
are trained specifically for doing examinations on the credit, and therefore need less
However, TEGE examination instructions contain detailed guidance for these trained
examiners on other credif requirements. Without detailed guidance for TEGE
examiners that instructs them on how to examine health insurance documents,
examiners may not consistently identify noncompliance, which could lead to erroneous

credit refunds. This could particularly be the case to the extent that examining health

“For tax exempt entities with a non-U.S. address, issues of having a trade or business in the U.S. are not relevant,
but they must pay health insurance premiums for an employee’s coverage issued in and regulated in one of the
states or the District of Columbia.

*Eorm W-2 has boxes to indicate whether an employer contributed to a health savings account,, which do not count
as health insurance premium payments.
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insurance documents to check eligibility for this new credit has not been typical work for

these examiners.

Examinations Underway, but IRS Lacks a Plan for Efficiently Analyzing Resulis on
Credit Compliance
For tax year 2010, SB/SE plans to conduct over 1,500 examinations related to the

credit, and TEGE anticipates about 1,000 examinations. An SB/SE official said the
number of examinations is expected to provide initial compliance information and allow

IRS to establish a compliance presence without committingfoo many resources initially.

TEGE selected their number of examinations based o rce decisions, before tax

year 2010 claims began, and did not adjust once acl al claim umbers were known. As
a result, the percentage of claims being exami ing to TEGE officials.

Table 2 summarizes the status of IRS’s examinati ~oh the credif.

Table 1: Examination Actions for Form 8 ry 2012, for Tax Year 2010

Number of: TEGE Total
Examinations initiated 570 1,070
Additional examinations anticipat 430 1,430
Closed examinations 119 88 207
Closed examinations res 48 22 68

the credit amount
Seource: SB/SE and TEGE
®For examinations, SB/SE doe!

IRS’s database on examination results tracks the aggregate dollar amount of tax
changes as a result of the examination but does not contain the reason a change is
made. Consequently, IRS is not able to isolate and analyze examination results related
to the credit versus other tax issues. This is particularly a problem for SB/SE
examinations, which may cover issues other than the credit.*® Instead, as initial
examinations have closed, IRS officials said management has spoken with examiners
about findings related to the credit. This has been possible because of the relatively low

initial volume of cases, but this approach may not be feasible as results accumulate.

* TEGE examinations will only cover the credit, according to IRS officials.
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Therefore, it is not clear how IRS can efficiently analyze results to decide whether
changes are necessary in how it examines the credit or how it educates small
employers about how to comply with the credit's rules, and/or whether it committed too

many or too few resources to examinations of the credit.

Furthermore, IRS does not have criteria for deciding whether the resources spent on
examinations of the credit are appropriate, given the amount of errors found. IRS
officials said that for future years they plan to select the number of credit examinations
based on past results, identified compliance risks, and available resources. However,
ks and resources, IRS is
th the credit, rather than

without criteria to assess the results in concert with thes

less able to ensure that examination resources targ

examining compliant claimants.

For example, early examination results {i 012) show that 67 percent of

the examinations completed wer

recognize that few examinatior
could change. However,
r elp decide how many examination resources to

id they do not plan to use data from examinations of
other tax provisions to be rk measures—such as the no-change rate or length of

time an examination is open—because results would not be comparable.

A summary of examination results specific to the credit could also inform decisions
about using additional compliance tools such as soft notices.*” In the past, IRS has

A “soft notice” is a fetter generated fo taxpayers that IRS has identified possible errors on their form. The goalisto
increase accurate reporting compliance at minimal costs by educating taxpayers for future compliance without doing
an examination and minimizing the taxpayer's need to respond to the notice.
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used soft notices to correct errors and collect funds without initiating an examination.*®
IRS officials said they have not ruled out using soft notices, but examination results
would need to identify an issue that would justify their use. According to a senior IRS
official who is implementing the credit, soft notices are not effective for all taxpayers or
situations. He said they would consider using soft notices if they found a series of
returns with mistakes from the same fax preparer or promoter of tax schemes.
Furthermore, soft notices may necessitate follow-up, which would negate some of the
advantages of the notices. If IRS analysis were able to show that examinations were
not a cost effective way to pursue certain errors made in claiming a credit, a soft notice

may offer another approach to improve compliance at lower €osts to IRS and less

burden on claimants.

Data to Evaluate Many Questions About the 18 of the Credit are Not Available

There are a variety of research questiong : Qf interest to policymakers about

the effects of the credit that cannot be ev ta currently available. Figure 5

shows how the credit may influ behavior and, ultimately, employees .

* For examples, see GAO, Advance Eamed Income Tax Credit: Low Use and Small Dollars Paid Impede IRS's
Efforts to Reduce High Noncompliance, GAO-07-1110 (Washington D.C.: Aug. 10, 2007)and GAO, Tax Gap: IRS
Could Do More to Promote Compliance by Third Parties with Miscellaneous income Reparting Requirements, GAO-
09-238 (Washington D.C.,: Jan. 28, 2009).
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Figure 5: Model of Potential Qutcomes, and Influential Factors for the Small Employer
Heaith Insurance Tax Credit

» Forfaited tax Tax credit fo « Ability fo! begin offering beaith insurance, keep offering insurance,
revenue. certain small, of upgrade insurance plans.
N jow wage . . N
= img \ » Savings on insurance premiums.
costs for IRS, and offer health
other agencies, insurance.
» Employer cosis i
for purchasing -
insurance, and Employses of Claimants
claiming the

cradit. = Gain or maintain access to employer sponsorsd health insurance.

+ {ower out-of-pocket cost
o insurance pla

ealth care, due to emplover's abifity

» incregsed wages du s savings on insurance premiums.

u- Changes In efigibiity

requiremants Tor the cradit.
mall o Politics, perception of PPACA,

« {General economic conditions. @ = tmplementation of other P
provisions, including excha

= Labor market/unemployment. » Other progra es aff:
amplovers.

Source: Basic mods! structure is based o
Evalustion, as shown in GAO-12.208G
intervisws with sublect matter specieli

Wisconsin jon Program D : and
among variables are based on GAC analysis of

e number of small, ge employers offering health insurance, before and after

the credit was available,

= number of employees at small, low wage employers, who have or could obtain
health insurance through their employers; and

» annual health insurance premium costs for small, low wage employers before
and after the credit.

None of these data are readily available or free of iimitations, which complicates an
evaluation. For example, the available data on employer sponsored health insurance

does not align with the credit’s eligibility criteria, according to our interviews with subject
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matter specialists and our review of the data (see appendix Vi for a summary of the
data sources). Nor could we identify a data source that tracks when, or why, employers
begin offering insurance. As a result of the limitations with all three types of data, it
would be difficult to precisely measure changes in health insurance availability, offering,
and costs due to the credit, without collecting additional data. Isolating influential
factors, such as those shown in figure 5 that may contribute to the effect of the credit

would also be a challenge in an evaluation.*

To minimize taxpayer burden, IRS officials said they will not gollect data on credit

claimants, outside of Form 8941. IRS’s position on dat ection for all provisions of

the tax code is that it only collects data it needs to iance with the tax

laws. %

Collecting additional data needed for po
magnitude of those costs would d

about the benefits and cost
is the time limits on cla
out the questions to be answered by any
evaluations of the ¢ ould determine the type of data that would need to

be collected.

Conclusions

0 An evaluator could use statistical modeling to help control for the influence of multiple external factors. For details
on other methods for identifying causation, including experiments and quasi-experiments, using control groups, see
GAO, Designing Evaluations: 2012 Revision, GAO-12-208G (Washington, D.C.,: Jan. 2012). These designs are not
feasible for the credit because it was implemented simultaneously across the country.

¥See GAD-05-690.
st Starting in 2014, eligible small employers can claim the credit for any two consecutive years.
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The Small Employer Health Tax Credit was intended to offer an incentive to small, low
wage employers to start providing or continue to provide health insurance. However,
utilization of the credit has been lower than expected, with the available evidence
suggesting that the design of the credit is a large part of the reason why. While the
credit could be redesigned, such changes come with tradeoffs. Changing the credit to
expand eligibility or make it more generous would increase the revenue loss to the

federal government.

In administering the credit to ensure compliance, IRS employed a number of steps that

have proven to be effective for other tax provisions. Ne eless, we identified several

employers with non-U.S. addresses, there is a
allowed. Without more systematic attenti

examiners on hc\/\;f onfirm eligibility for the credit for small employers with a

non-U.S. address.

2. Revise the TEGE examination guidance to include more detailed instructions for
examiners on how to confirm that claimants properly calculated eligible health
insurance premiums paid, for purposes of the credit. The SB/SE examination

instructions could serve as a model.

To help ensure that IRS uses its examination resources efficiently, we recommend

that the Commissioner of Internal Revenue take the foilowing actions:
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3. Document and analyze the resuits of examinations involving the credit to identify
how much of those results are related to the credit versus other tax issues being
examined, what errors are being made in claiming the credit, and when the

examinations of the credit are worth the resource investment.

4. Related to the above analysis of examination results on the credit, identify the
types of errors with the credit that could be addressed with alternative

approaches, such as soft notices.

Agency Comments and Qur Evaluation TBD

As agreed with your offices, uniess you publicly annoysice the contents of this report

earlier, we plan no further distribution until 30 daysdfrom the report date. At that time, we

will send copies to the Chairmen and Ranking i »of other Senate and House

committees and subcommitiees that have appro , authorization, and oversight
responsibilities for IRS. We will also se Commissioner of Internal
i of the IRS Oversight Board, and

udget. The report also will be available

Revenue, the Secretary of the Treasury, t
the Director of the Office of M
at no charge on the GAD Wel www.gao.gov.

If you or your staff s or wish to discuss the material in this report

further, please conta e at (202) 512-9110 or at whitej@gac.gov. Contact points for

our Offices of Congresé? elations and Public Affairs may be found on the last page

of this report.

James R. White
Director, Tax Issues

Strategic Issues

29



97

Appendix I: Scope and Methodology

To assess the extent to which the credit is being claimed, we obtained and analyzed
Internal Revenue Service (IRS) data on the claims on Form 8941 for tax year 2010. We
assessed the reliability of the Form 8941 data by examining the programming code, the
input file, record layout, annotated Form 8941, and data dictionary used to generate the
data we requested. We also spoke with IRS officials about their process for inputting tax
form data. We determined that the data was sufficiently reliable for our purposes. We
identified estimates of employers potentially eligible to claim the credit by reviewing
reports and Web sites of government agencies, think tanks, and interest groups. When

possible, we interviewed the government agencies and buginess groups who developed

estimates. To identify any factors limiting credit claimg, we'ig iewed groups

representing employers, tax preparers and insur o assess how these

reducing usage and ess the factors. Discussion groups were, for the most

part, heid over the phoné ‘e also spoke with insurance and tax preparation
companies, specifically, BlueCross Blue Shield of Kansas City, independent Health
Group of New York, H&R Block’s Tax Institute, and Jackson Hewitt. We content
analyzed interviews and discussion group comments with qualitative analysis software.
To provide additional support for discussion group and interview findings, where
possible, we identified data from IRS, the 2010 Medical Expenditure Panel Survey, or
the 2011 Kaiser Family Foundation Health Benefits Survey. At IRS, we interviewed
officials from the Small Business/ Self Employed (SB/SE) division, including the

Communications and Liaison Office; the Tax Exempt and Government Entities (TEGE)
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division; the Research and Analysis for Tax Administration division, and the Taxpayer
Advocacy Service.

To assess how fully IRS is ensuring that the tax credit is correctly claimed by eligible
employers, we reviewed IRS’s compliance plans, filters and instructions for IRS staff
conducting examinations, and compared these documents with compliance practices
used for prior tax provisions. We also highlighted any gaps between filters and
examination instructions and the credit's eligibility rules. We reviewed the filter results
for tax year 2010 claims, and interviewed SB/SE and TEGE gfficials about compliance
efforts.

literature review and interviewed the foregoing g nd subject matter specialisis
from government, academia, and think ted the specialists based on our
literature review and spoke with individua ersity of Massachusetts,
monwealth Fund, the Urban Institute,
the Kaiser Family Foundatio rEnterprise Institute, the Employee Benefit
Research Institute, the RAN tporation, the Small Business Administration Office of
oliey at the Department of Treasury. We reviewed
large scale government surveys, and identified how

the questions and varia h to the eligibility criteria for the credit.

We conducted this performance audit from July 2011 through May 2012 in accordance
with generally accepted government auditing standards. Those standards require that
we plan and perform the audit to obtain sufficient, appropriate evidence to provide a
reasonable basis for our findings and conclusions based on our audit objectives. We
found the data we used to be sufficiently reliable for the purposes of our report. We
believe that the evidence obtained provides a reasonable basis for our findings and

conclusions based on our audit objectives.
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Appendix ll: State Average Premiums for Small Group Markets for 2010 and 2011

For tax years 2010 through 2013, the Small Employer Tax Credit is based on a
percentage of the lesser of: 1) the premiums paid by the eligible small employer for
employees during the taxable year, and 2) the amount of premiums the employer would
have paid if each employee were enrolled in a plan with a premium equal to the average
premium for the small group market in the state (or in an area in the state) in which the
employer is offering health insurance. The Secretary of Health and Human Services

determines whether separate average premiums will apply for areas within a state and

also determines the average premium for a state or sub-glate area. Table 2 shows the
average premiums for the small group market in each'stat

2011,

ax years 2010 and

Table 2: State Average Premiums for Small Markets for 2010 and 2011, in

doliars

2011
Employee-only Family plan
{single plan)

Alabama 4,778 12,084
Alaska 6,729 14,701
Arkansas 4,378 9,849

Arizona 4,614 11,083
California 4,790 11,483
Colorado 5,007 12,258
Connecticut 5,840 14,098
Delaware 5,902 13,411
District of Columbia 5721 14,024
Forida 5,218 12,550
Georgia 5,085 11,440
Hawail 4,622 11,528
idaho 4,379 10,066
Hiinois 5,585 13,176
Indiana 5,262 12,097
lowa 4,694 11,051
Kansas 4,693 11,908
Kentucky 4,456 10,560
Louisiana 5,143 11,911
Maine 5261 12,255
M husetts 5,800 15,262
Maryland 5073 12,530
Michigan 5,195 12,538
Minnesola 5,048 12,790
ippi 4,787 10,860
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Missouri 4,663 11,379
Montana 4772 10,789
Nebraska 4715 12,057
Nevada 4,553 10,836
New Hampshire 5518 14,523
New Jersey 5607 14,093
New Mexico 4,754 12,328
New York 5,442 13,631
North Carolina 4920 11,949
North Dakota 4,469 11,328
Ohio 4,667 11,827
Oklahoma 4,838 11,200
QOregon 4,681 11,5636
Pennsylvania 5,039 12,671
Rhode island 5 887 14,563
South Carolina 4,899 11,780
South Dakota 4,497 11,589
Tennessee 4,611 11,035
Texas 5,140 12,432
Utah 4,238 11,346
Vermont 5,244 12,505
Virginia 4,890 12,213
Washington 4,543 11,151
West Virginia 4,986 12,724
Wisconsin 5222 ¢ 13,911
Wyoming 5,266 12,867

Source: Calculations done by the Departme
2010-13, and 2011 Instructions for Form 8!

man Services, as they appear in IRS Revenue Ruling
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Appendix lli: Double Counting in IRS Data on Total Claims for Tax Year 2010

IRS data for tax year 2010 show 331,768 total claims filed. This total must be adjusted
to avoid double counting due to 106,900 S corporation and partnership claims that were
passed through to 161,431 respective shareholders and partners who then reported
their portion of the claim amounts on their individual income tax returns. Excluding the
161,431 shareholder and partner claims filed leaves only the 170,337 smalt employer
claims filed. To avoid double counting the credit amounts that were claimed by the S
corporations and parinerships as well as their respective shareholders and partners, we
arrive at 224,778 credit
nts would not provide a

exciuded the 106,900 S corporation and parinership claims

amounts claimed; however a distribution of these claim ag
useful summary of the credit size because it would in ith individuals and entities.

{See Figure 8.)

Figure 6: Number of Credit Claims by Taxg

o

Sharemméﬁs’ Employer Claims:

Partner Claims. 174,337 ™
161,431 T [Clal s through o PN ™
o Sharsholders and & Corp and / “\ CCorps and
Partners ] v, Parinership \, Ohher Eslate
Claims: amﬁm&_&}
106,890 Nonprofit Solg  ClAimS
Clairmns: praprietor
Adjustmentin avoid double 12925 Claims:

counting daim amounts:

I31TEE- 106,990 = 224778

Source: GAO Analysis of IRS Data
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Appendix IV: Credit Claims by Employer Size and Wages Paid, Tax Year 2010

Figure 7: Total Small Employer Claims of the Credit by Number of FTEs and
Amount of Average Wages Paid, Tax Year 2010

Number of employer claims

36,000 28,284

28,408
28,000 geen :

20,000
15,000 |
10,000 }

5,000

f.o55 than $25,000 o $30,000 10
$25,000 $29,998 $34,999

Average annual wages paid by claiming emph

$45,000 to less
than $49,898

10 or fewer

1025

Source: GAD analysis of IRS data.

Source: IRS data on Form ¢
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Appendix V: IRS’s “3 Simple Steps” to Determine Potential Eligibility for the
Credit, Compared with Actual Worksheets for Claiming the Credit

This appendix contains the text of the worksheets for Form 8941, shown in
figure 4.

Figure & Form 8341 and Dredit Caloulations on Worksheets Related 1o IRY's Three Simple Steps for

[ttt e Determining Potential Eligibility
Direntions:
Roloser the bulbhorss below t revest the wa A b oredil fotals hisd for

finss on RS Form 8341

Step 2 Step 3

Twade w DO R, il 14 Al Do b B, EHPIONSE. 100 e
Ena B tobal weninet OF Aty SRR BORRRO BLDNIESRG Do fen Ry SRS T CADCHES Svataie m\
sy furg e fewe .
:muw ik 3 Bt L 1 e 2 R, o O

e o atalles QB B RE B 1 L

i 2 s by
P w&aymmww !ﬂxn

Crwo de ol emploa st musssoe prmans Fow sedsesispe, § m*mrwx:v‘rs,
EERARITIS, SRR, SR TR (i PRSI B

FiSE e 13 pan YN Sewetsinen, aeEles X el 90 T8 e 7. TReaorR! e
srmpiopsrs, ship dves 1T and W oaod g to Soe 39 Farrershion wnd B sovpenions, siog Fee
SIE FREOET TS BT D01 BRPR K. U oM, on R Sl Setiset 169 awoued an R
SR gy L

Arogant stieated e padans oF 1ho conporttion v Darebisutes of e asfaln o st o
S N s - :

Bource! GAD snIEin.
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Worksheet 1. information Needed To Compl
Line 1 and Worksheets 2 and 3

1 you noad more Fows, use & separats sheel and include the
additional arsounts in the totals Delow.

(@ (o)

Consldered Ho:srs’oi
Employees Service

{€)
Wages
Pald

@iy @ ey g

3

et

Totals:

37

Worksheet 2. Full-Time Equivalent Employees
FTEs)

1. Enter the tolal employes hours of service
from Workshest 1, column (b}

2. Hours of service per FTE

3. Full-dime squivaient employees. Divide
fine 1 by fine 2. I the resultis nota
whote number (0, 1, 2, elc.), generally
round the resull down to the next lowast
whote mimber. Howaver, i the result is
iess thar one, enter 1. Report this
amounion FormB84d, e 2. . ..... .. 3

et 3. Average Annual Wages

empioyee wages paid

line 244 the result is hot a multiple of
{$1,000, $2,000, §3,000, sic.),

e result down 1o the naxt lowest
ple of $1,000, Report this amount
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Worksheet 4. Information Needed To Complets Worksheat 8§, FTE Limit
Lines 4 and § and Worksheet 7
if you nsed mora fows, use a separate sheel and intiuds the 1, Entseihe smount rom Fors B4, tne Y L L
alditional amounts in ths tofals balow. 2. Enter Bw amound from Fom
@ P Y 4L Ee2 b
& S
Enrotied ™ Employer Enchiad 3. Subtract 10 fromt ne 2
Individuals | Employer State Employes 4. Divide ine 3 by 16, Bnter the
{ ¥ A Hours of sl 33 & decknal froumied o
Employees Paid Promiums Service atisastdplacest. .. ... A
' 5. Mutpy e thylned L. oL 5,
£ 8 Hna 5 from e 1, Report itis
& amoun! on Form 8041, 1008 ..., 8
e
Y | Wage Limi
5. y
8.
7. —
8. . i% P
8. wigs e 4 by S25.000. Eoter
LA he renalt a8 & dechnal (ounded
1.
12 iibeaect Bne 8 Ien Bne 1, Rapod this
Py SO on Form 8841, e ® ... ... s R
14,
15.
16
1%
18
18,
20
21,
22,
22
24,
25,
Totais:

38

Workshest 7. FTEs Enrolled in Coverage

1. Enter the tolal enrolied employee hours of
service from Worksheet 4, column (d) .. 1.

2. Hours of service per FTE ... ..., ... 2.

3. Divide line 1 bly line 2. If the result is not a
whole number (0, 1, 2, efc.), generally
round the result down fo the next lowest
whole number. Howaever, if the resuitis
fess than one, enter 1. Report this amount
onForm 8941 line14. ... ... ... .. 3

2080

RN =12 S
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Appendix VI: Publically Available Data on Small Empioyer Health Insurance

Through our literature review and interviews, we identified several commonly cited non-IRS data
sources on employer health insurance. Each source has different variables related to the key
eligibility requirements for the Small Employer Tax Credit. Table 3 summarizes each source, its
basic methodology, and whether its data matches with these requirements for the credit..

Table 3: Publically Available Data on Small Employer Health Insurance

Employer Health
Benefits Survey

Medical Expenditure Panel
Survey, {insurance
Component)

National Compensation
Survey, Employee Benefits
Survey

Organizations
responsible for the
survey

Kaiser Family
Foundation and
Health Research and
Educationat Trust

Department of Health and

Human Services, Agency for.
Healthcare Research a
Quatity.

Bureau of Labor Statistics

Frequency, and
contact method.

Annual, conducted by
phone.

Annual, generally:

by phone or mail

Annual, conducted by personal
isits, mail, telephone, and
ail..

Uinit of analysis,
sample size and
source.

Employers. 2,088
from Dun and
Bradstreet and the
Census of
Governments.

Employers.” 17 585 from state
unemployment insurance
reports.

Response rate and
most recent data, as of
May 2012,

Elinibill

En\pioyer is a for
profit or non-profit
entity.

47 percent in 20

ent for private
ments in 2010

56 percent for businesses in
2011

No. includes businesses and
governmeants.

Offer health insurance
and pay at least 50
percent of premiums.

Yes.

Data not publically available

Empioyer has fewer
than 25 FTEs.

No.  Number of
employees.

No. Number of employees.

No. Number of employees,
from 1-50.

Average annual wages
are less than $50,000
per FTE.

No. Percentage of
full ime employees
who maks $23,000 or
less per year.

No. Percentage of employses
who earmned wages in one of
{hree categories.

Wages categorical

Source: GAQ analysis of data sources.

*The Medical Expenditure Panel Survey- Insurance Component sample is drawn at the establishment fevel, an

establishment is a particular workplace or location.

The annual wage categories are about: (1) $23,920 or less, {2)$23,920 to $54,080; and (3) $54,080 or more.

“The National Compensation Survey sample is drawn at the establishment level; an establishment is a single
economic unit that engages in one, or primarily one, type of economic activity, it is usually a single physical focation.
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harris

United States Chamber of Commerce

Q4 Small Business Outlook Survey

January 11, 2013

Survey Dates: December 17, 2012 - January 2, 2013

Methodology
The Q4 U.S. Chamber of Commerce Small Business Outlook Study was conducted online between December 17,
2012 and January 2, 2013 by Harris Interactive among 1,482 Small Business Executives (defined as executive

level position in a company with fewer than 500 employees and annual revenue less than $25 M).

+ N=658 U.S. Chamber of Commerce Members
e N=824 Non-U.S. Chamber of Commerce Members, weighted to be representative of the smail business

population

Sampling error: +/- 2.5 percentage points. This report contains data from the Q4 survey and references data
collected in the Q2, Q3, and Q4 2011 and Q1, Q2, Q3 2012 U.5. Chamber of Commerce Small Business Outlook

Survey.

Key Findings

Small Busi Climate R ins Bleak

= CEight-out-of-ten small businesses (82%) continue to think the U.S. economy is on the wrong track.
* More than half, 54%, expect the smali business climate to worsen in the next two years.

*  88% of small businesses are looking for more certainty, opposed to more assistance from Washington.

Regulatory Uncertainty Impacts Hiring

*  86% of small businesses believe that regulations, rules, and taxes will negatively impact their ability to
operate. Health care regulations cause the most concern followed by labor rules and environmental

laws.
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s 75% of small businesses expect that the Affordable Care Act will increase costs for their businesses; 5%
expect the law to make health care coverage more affordable; and 71% think that implementation of

the health care law will make it harder to hire more employees.

Small Businesses Look for Solutions to Fiscal Challenges

e 88% of all small businesses support addressing entitlement spending to resolve America’s growing
financial challenges and escalating debt.

*  62% see the current debt and deficit as a threat to the success of their businesses.

o 92% of small businesses feel that a comprehensive approach to energy exploration and increased

revenue from production are important to addressing our country’s fiscal challenges.

Economic Uncertainty Continues to Impact Small Businesses; Local Economic Outlook is improving

Small business owners continue to Challenges Facing Small Business Owners Today

cite economic uncertainty as their top economic uncertainty |GGG
challenge (22%). America’s growing debt & deficit - 19%
While two-thirds (69%) of small The 2010 heaith care it NN 1

business owners feel that their Over-regulation — 12%

businesses are headed in the right gntares [N 1%

direction, the vast majority (82%) of Loss of revenue _ 9%

small business owners feel that the Lackof credit [ 3%

U.S. economy is headed on the Wrong  ~sanuary 2013 Results only

track.

Qptimism about the local economy has rebounded this quarter with a significant gain in small business’
sentiment that their local economy is headed in the right direction (up 39% to 48%). However, the future of
America’s economy remains unclear, with 41% indicating that they are unsure of whether America’s best days
are ahead or behind of us. This sentiment is similar when looking at their own businesses — 28% say best days

are behind, 30% say best days are ahead, and 42% are unsure.



Small Business Climate Has Worsened

66% of executives believe that the climate for
small businesses has worsened over the past
two years, Optimism that conditions will
improve over the next two years remains low
and the prediction that things will get worse
has almost doubled to 54%, up from 24% who

felt similarly in October.
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Headed in the Right Direction

68% 69% 2% Ge% 68% 69%
81% . " . . .
47% 48%
. 45% 43 s 38% * Your business

27% 3% wmnan Your Joc al economy

17% e Thie .3, € OBOMY
14% 14% %
8% g% 10% 13%
jul  Qct dan Mar Jul Oct dan

When asked what small businesses and others across America need most right now, small business owners cited

Predicted Change in Climate for Small Businesses Over Next Two Years

54%

29%

28%

23% %

Jub Oct Jan Mar jul Oct dan

elections are over.

smmeme Creatly/ Somenvhat/
Shightly Improve

w—5re aty/SOMmevibat!
Slightly Worsen

more certainty from
Washington (88%), opposed to

more assistance.

Solutions to Stimulate

Economy

82% of small business owners
said that Congressional
campromise on issues that
impact the economy is

important now that the

Entitlement reform is fully supported by the small business community, with 88% of small business owners

indicating support for entitlement reform as part of Congress and the Administration’s deal to resolve America’s

growing financial challenges and escalating debt.

Small businesses see domestic energy exploration and production as a solution to fiscal issues and job creation.

The overwhelming majority {92%) say that a more comprehensive approach to energy exploration is important

to the U.S. economy and addressing our country’s fiscal challenges.

63% of small businesses view the U.S. deficit and debt as a threat to the success of their business and higher
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energy prices are seen by almost three-quarters {74%} as posing an immediate threat to their businesses.

The recent health care law is also seen as an impediment-—three-quarters of small businesses cite the new

health care law as making health coverage more expensive for their small businesses {75%).

Hiring Continues To Be Most Impacted By Current Economy

Compared to one year ago, only 16% of smali business owners said that they have added more employees. More
than half {53%) of all small businesses have not hired in the past year, and 64% plan to keep the same number of

Likely to Add /Lose Employees Over the Next Year employees in 2013. This trend s

expected to continue into the next year,
64% 62% 63% 64% 64% with only 17% indicating that they plan

to add employees over the next year.

. Economic uncertainty is cited as the
1% g 20% IR 0% g0 gy -
. greatest obstacle to hiring more

employees over the next two years

W
S A * T 2% 1%, 4%
{46%). When asked in their own words
e il emiployees (INET) - Stay the same === Lose emplovees (NET)
how recent economic events have
impacted their hiring plans, small business owners reported downsizing (18%), having to change their hiring

strategies (34%), decreased revenue and profit {25%), and increased taxes (10%).

Additionally, 71% of small business owners agree that the recent health care law makes it harder for their

businesses to hire more people.
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Small business owners have no strategy for coping with rising
healthcare costs: report

Obamacare kicks in a year from now, but small businesses aren't ready
BY PHYLLIS FURMAN / NEW YORK DAILY NEWS

THURSDAY, FEBRUARY 7, 2013, 11:06 AM

No matter how you slice it, higher haalthcare costs are on the way lor small business owners.
But tor now, many simply don’t want to deal with it.

A surprising 5% of smali business owners polled by Newtek Business Servicss said they have not come up with a strategy to manage their healthcare costs over the next 12
months.

Of the rest, 13% plan to rebid their policy, 8% plan to reduce benefits to employess and 14% pian to ask employees to pay a greater share.
Small business owners are sitting on the fence evan though they are about to face major changes in just one year, when Obamacare kicks in.

The Affordable Care Act requires businesses with more than 50 workers to provide health insurance to employees. Insurance companies are already hiking premiums in
anticipation of higher costs.

Newtek president Barry Stoane said he was “was really surprised,” that business owners have yet to lay out a course of action.

“We thought with 2 year to go, businesses would have started to plan.” Sioane told the Daily News. “We would have expected them o say they plan to manage these costs by
reducing benetits for employses, or by requiring employees to pay a bigger share

Newtek recently ran a national ad campaign presenting itself as an advisor who can help smalt business who have questions about rising healthcare costs.
Cne reason small business are holding off: uncertainty over how Obamacare will play out.
But not taking action 1o cope with rising healthcare costs, could have serious impact for small business owners,

“Obamacare is among the top three concems for small business owners," Sloane sald. “Business owners are worried that this could put them out of business.”

Read more: y oping-risi ts-report-article- 11257787 #ixzz20kkaJNcu
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